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In re:
Michael T. Conahan;
Former Judge;

Court of Common Pleas; -
Luzerne County : 8 1D 2011

IMPORTANT NOTICE
TO: MICHAEL T. CONAHAN:

You are hereby notified that the Pennsylvania Judicial Conduct
Board has determined that there is probable cause to file formal
charges against you for conduct proscribed by Article V, §17(b) and
§18(d)(1) of the Constitution of the Commonweaith of Pennsyivania
and the Code of Judicial Conduct. The Board’s counsel will present
the case in support of the charges before the Pennsylvania Court of
Judicial Discipline.

You have an absolute right to be represented by a lawyer in all
proceedings before the Court of Judicial Discipline. Your attorney
should file an entry of appearance with the Court of Judicial

Discipline in accordance with C.J.D.R.P. No. 110.



You are hereby notified, pursuant to C.J.D.R.P. No. 302(B), that
should you elect to file an omnibus motion, that motion should be
filed no later than thirty (30) days after the service of this Complaint
in accordance with C.J.D.R.P. No. 411.

You are further hereby notified that within thirty (30) days
after the service of this Complaint, if no omnibus motion is filed, or
within twenty (20) days after the dismissal of all or part of the
omnibus motion, you may file an Answer admitting or denying the
allegations contained in this Complaint in accordance with C.J.D.R.P.
No. 413. Failure to file an Answer shall be deemed a denial of all
factual allegations in the Complaint.

FORMAL CHARGES

AND NOW, this 21st day of December, 2011, comes the Judicial
Conduct Board of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (hereinafter “Board")
and files this Complaint against Former Court of Common Pleas Judge
Michael T. Conahan (hereinafter “Respondent”), of the Eleventh Judicial
District, Luzerne County, Pennsylvania, pursuant to Court of Judicial
Discipline Rule of Procedure 303, alleging that Respondent has violated the
Constitution of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Article V, § § 17(b) and

18(d)(1), as more specifically delineated herein.



1. Pursuant to Article V, § 18 of the Constitution of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, the Board is granted the authority to
determine whether there is probable cause to file formal charges, and, when
it concludes that probable cause exists to file formal charges against a
justice, judge, or magisterial district judge for proscribed conduct, to present
the case in support of such charges before the Court of Judicial Discipline.

2. Respondent commenced service as a magisterial district judge
on or about November 1, 1977. Respondent was elected to the Luzerne
County Court of Common Pleas and commenced service on or about January
3, 1994. He continuously served as a judge of the Court of Common Pleas
until his resignation on or about January 14, 2008. Respondent served as a
senior judge from January 15, 2008 until January 28, 2009.

SUPPORTING FACTS AND CHARGES

3. On or about September 9, 2009, Respondent was indicted by a
federal grand jury in the case of United States of America v. Conahan, et al,
3:09-CR-00272-EMK-1, in the United States District Court for the Middle
District of Pennsylvania. By Indictment, Respondent was charged with the

following crimes:



Count 1:

Count 2:

Count 3:

Count 4:

Count 5:

Count 6:

Count 7:

Count 8:

Count 9:

Count 10:

Count 15:

Count 16:

Count 17:

Racketeering, in violation of Title 18 United States
Code (U.S.C.) §1962(c).

Racketeering Conspiracy, in violation of Title 18
U.S.C. §1962(d).

Honest Services Wire Fraud, in violation of Title 18
U.S.C. §§1344, 1346 and 2.

Honest Services Wire Fraud, in violation of Title 18
U.S.C. §§1344, 1346 and 2.

Honest Services Wire Fraud, in violation of Title 18
U.S.C. §§1344, 1346 and 2.

Honest Services Wire Fraud, in violation of Title 18
U.S.C. §§1344, 1346 and 2.

Honest Services Mail Fraud, in violation of Title 18,
U.S.C. §8§1341, 1346 and 2.

Honest Services Mail Fraud, in violation of Title 18,
U.S.C. §§1341, 1346 and 2.

Honest Services Mail Fraud, in violation of Title 18,
U.S.C. §§1341, 1346 and 2.

Honest Services Mail Fraud, in violation of Title 18,
U.S.C. §8§1341, 1346 and 2.

Corrupt Receipt of Bribe/Reward for Official Action
Concerning Programs Receiving Federal Funds, in
violation of Title 18, U.S.C. §§ 2 and 666(a)(1)(B).

Corrupt Receipt of Bribe/Reward for Official Action
Concerning Programs Receiving Federal Funds, in
violation of Title 18, U.S.C. §§ 2 and 666(a)(1)(B).

Corrupt Receipt of Bribe/Reward for Official Action
Concerning Programs Receiving Federal Funds, in
violation of Title 18, U.S.C. §§ 2 and 666(a)(1)(B).



Count 18:

Count 19:

Count 20:

Count 21:

Count 22:

Count 23:

Count 24:

Count 25:

Count 26:

Count 27:

Count 28:

Corrupt Receipt of Bribe/Reward for Official Action
Concerning Programs Receiving Federal Funds, in
violation of Title 18, U.S.C. §§ 2 and 666(a)(1)(B).

Corrupt Receipt of Bribe/Reward for Official Action
Concerning Programs Receiving Federal Funds, in
violation of Title 18, U.S.C. §§ 2 and 666(a)(1)(B).

Corrupt Receipt of Bribe/Reward for Official Action
Concerning Programs Receiving Federal Funds, in
violation of Title 18, U.S.C. §§ 2 and 666(a)(1)(B).

Corrupt Receipt of Bribe/Reward for Official Action
Concerning Programs Receiving Federal Funds, in
violation of Title 18, U.S.C. §§ 2 and 666(a)(1)(B).

Corrupt Receipt of Bribe/Reward for Official Action
Concerning Programs Receiving Federal Funds, in
violation of Title 18, U.S.C. §§ 2 and 666(a)(1)(B).

Corrupt Receipt of Bribe/Reward for Official Action
Concerning Programs Receiving Federal Funds, in
violation of Title 18, U.S.C. §§ 2 and 666(a)(1)(B).

Corrupt Receipt of Bribe/Reward for Official Action
Concerning Programs Receiving Federal Funds, in
violation of Title 18, U.S.C. §§ 2 and 666(a)(1)(B).

Money Laundering Conspiracy, in violation of Title
18, U.S.C. §1956(h). ’

Money Laundering, in violation of Title 18, US.C.
§§1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and 2.

Money Laundering, in violation of Title 18, U.S.C.
§8§1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and 2.
Money Laundering, in violation of Title 18, U.S.C.
§81956(a)(1)(B)(i) and 2.



Count 29:

Count 30:

Count 31:

Count 32:

Count 33:

Count 34:

Count 35:

Count 36:

Count 37:

Count 38:

Count 39:

Count 40:

Count 41:

Count 42:

Money Laundering, in violation of Title 18, U.S.C.

§§1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and 2.

Money Laundering, in violation of Title 18, U.S.C.

§§1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and 2.

Extortion Under Color of Official Right, in
Title 18, U.S.C. §§1951 and 2.

Extortion Under Color of Official Right, in
Title 18, U.S.C. §§1951 and 2.

Extortion Under Color of Official Right, in
Title 18, U.S.C. §§1951 and 2.

Extortion Under Color of Official Right, in
Title 18, U.S.C. §§1951 and 2.

Extortion Under Color of Official Right, in
Title 18, U.S.C. §§1951 and 2.

Extortion Under Color of Official Right, in
Title 18, U.S.C. §§1951 and 2.

Extortion Under Color of Official Right, i
Title 18, U.S.C. §§1951 and 2.

Extortion Under Color of Official Right, in
Title 18, U.S.C. §§1951 and 2.

Conspiracy to Defraud the United States,
of Title 18, U.S.C. §371.

violation

violation

violation

violation

violation

violation

violation

violation

of

of

of

of

of

of

of

of

in violation

Subscribing and Filing a Materially False Tax Return,

in violation of Title 26, U.S.C. §7206(1).

Subscribing and Filing a Materially False Tax Return,

in violation of Title 26, U.S.C. §7206(1).

Subscribing and Filing a Materially False Tax Return,

in violation of Title 26, U.S.C. §7206(1).



Count 43: Subscribing and Filing a Materially False Tax Return,
in violation of Title 26, U.S.C. §7206(1).

Count 48: Forfeiture, in violation of Title 18, U.S.C. §§982 and
1963.

A true and correct copy of the Indictment is attached hereto,
incorporated by reference and marked Board Exhibit “1”,

4, On or about September 15, 2009, Respondent entered a plea of
not guilty to the Indictment.

5. On or about July 23, 2010, the Respondent withdrew his plea of
not guilty and plead guilty to Count Two of the Indictment. A true and
correct copy of the Guilty Plea is attached hereto, incorporated by reference
and marked Board Exhibit “2”.

6. On or about September 23, 2011, Judge Edwin M. Kosik
sentenced Respondent to serve a period of incarceration of two hundred ten
(210) months; to serve a period of three (3) years supervised release after
his period of incarceration; to make restitution in the amount of
$874,167.37; to pay a special assessment of $100; and a fine of $20,000. A
true and correct copy of the Judgment and Sentencing Order is attached

hereto, incorporated by reference and marked Board Exhibit “3”,



7. A true and correct copy of the docket entries regarding United
States of America v. Conahan, et al, 3:09-CR-00272-EMK-1, is attached
hereto, incorporated by reference and marked Board Exhibit “4”,

8. The Respondent is a sentenced felon.

9. At a Board meeting on December 12, 2011, the Judicial Conduct
Board found there was probable cause to believe that Respondent’s conduct
was of a nature requiring the filing of formal charges.

10. Article Vv, § 18(d)(1) of the Constitution of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania provides, inter alia,:

A justice, judge or justice of the peace may be suspended,
removed from office or otherwise disciplined for conviction
of a felony. (Emphasis added).

WHEREFORE, Michael T. Conahan, a former judge named in these
charges, is subject to disciplinary action pursuant to the Constitution of the

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Article V, § 18(d)(1).

Respectfully submitted,

Date: December 21, 2011 m& W
Jo . Massa, Jr., Chief cé%lel
Pa\Supyeme Court No. 6467
Judicial Conduct Board
601 Commonwealth Avenue

P.O. Box 62525
Harrisburg, PA 17106




COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA

COURT OF JUDICIAL DISCIPLINE

In re:

Michael T. Conahan;

Former Judge;

Court of Common Pleas; :

Luzerne County : 81D 2011

VERIFICATION

I am Chief Counsel for the Judicial Conduct Board and I am authorized
to make this verification and file the foregoing BOARD COMPLAINT. 1 verify
that the Judicial Conduct Board found probable cause to file the formal
charges contained in this Board Complaint. I understand that the
statements herein are made subject to the penalties of 18 Pa.C.S Section

4904, relating to unsworn falsification to authorities.

Respectfully submitted,

Date: December 21, 2011 %@M&
A. Massa, Jr., Chief Cow b,
P . S reme Court No 6467
Judicial Conduct Board
601 Commonwealth Avenue
P.O. Box 62525

Harrisburg, PA 17106
(717) 234-7911
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
04 - CA -1

v.

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and
MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.,

Defendants.

I NDICTMENT HAR!E&EEE%. PA
Coupt 1 SEP g - 2009
18 U.S.C. § 1962 (c) g&nve. ‘ANDREA, GLERK
(Racketeering) 7633 TS e
THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:
A. THE PARTIES

1. At all times material to this Indictment, the defendants
MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. were judges of the
Court of Common Pleas for Luzerne County, Pennsylvania. Between
approximately January of 2002 and January of 2007, MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN served as President Judge for Luzerne County. Between
approximately 1996 and November of 2008, MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.
served as Judge of the Juvenile Court for Luzerme County. 1In
approximately January of 2007, MARK A, CIAVARELLA, JR. was named
President Judge for Luzerne County.

2. As judges of the Court of Common Pleas, the defendants
MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. owed a fiduciary
duty to the citizens of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and to

the Judiciary of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and were

Certified from the record

Date i
BOARD’S ary E. D’Andrea, Clerk

EXHIBIT Per
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required to file an annual statement of financial interests with
the Administrative Office of the Pennsylvania Courts, reporting
the source of any income, direct or indirect. The Administrative
Office of the Pennsylvania Courts maintains a number of offices,
including an office in Philadelphia County, Eastern District of
Pennsylvania.

B. THE ENTERPRISE

3. At all times material to this Indictment, the Court of
Common Pleas for Luzerne County, part of the Judicial Branch of
the government of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvgnia, as
established by Article 5 of the Pennsylvania Constitution and by
the Pennsylvania Judicial Code, constituted an “enterprise” as
defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1961 (4)
(hereinafter referred to as "the Enterprise"). The Enterprise
was engaged in, and its activities affected, interstate commerce.

C. HE_PURPOS F EFEND.

4. The defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A.
CIAVARELLA, JR. abused their positions within the Enterprise to
enrich themselves by improperly taking payments and other things
of value from individuals and organizations doing business with
the enterprise.

D. MANNER, MEANS AND METHODS OF THE DEFENDANTS
S. Between approximately June of 2000 and January 1, 2007,

the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.
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abused their positions within the enterprise and violated the
fiduciary duty they owed to thé citizens of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania and to the Judiciary of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania by secretly deriving more than $2,800,000 in income,
in addition to the compensation to which they were lawfully
entitled, in exchange for their official actions and anticipated
official actions. The actions from which they derived improper
income included, but were not limited to: entering into
agreements guaranteeing placement of juvenile offenders with PA
Child Care, LLC (hereinafter referred to as “PA Child Care”) and
Western PA Child Care, LLC (hereinafter referred to as “Western
PA Child Care); taking official action to remove funding from the
Luzerne County Court budget for the Luzerne County juvenile
detention facility, effectively closing the county-run youth
detention center; facilitating the construction of juvenile
detention facilities and an expansion to one of those facilities
by PA Child Care and Western PA Child Care; directing that
juvenile offenders be lodged at juvenile detention facilities
operated by PA Child Care and Western PA Child Care; summarily
granting motions to seal the record and for injunctive relief in
a civil case related to PA Child Care; and, through their
actions, assisting Pa Child Care and Western PA Child Care to
secure agreements with Luzerne County worth tens of millions of

dollars for the placement of juvenile offenders, including an



Case 3:09-cr-00272-EMK Document 1-2 Filed 09/09/09 Page 4 of 78

agreement in late 2004 worth approximately $58, 000,000,

6. The defendants employed a number of schemes in an
attempt to hide the income they received including, but not
limited to, causing income in the form of cash, checks and wire
transfers to pass through intermediaries and causing false
records to be created.

7. In approximately June of 2000, the defendant MARK A.
CIAVARELLA, JR., whose duties then included presiding over
juvenile proceedings as a judge of the Court of Common Pleas for
Luzerne County, had discussions with an attorney who had a law
practice in Luzerne County, hereinafter referred to as
“PARTICIPANT #1," who was interested in constructing a juvenile
detention facility in Luzerne County. Defendant MARK A.
CIAVARELLA, JR. introduced PARTICIPANT #1 to a contractor
(hereinafter referred to as “PARTICIPANT #2") who was a friend of
Aefendant MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR., for the purpose of locating
land for the juvenile facility and for constructing the facility.

8. PARTICIPANT #1 and another person, doing business as PA
Child Care, acquired land in Luzerne County and entered into an
agreement with PARTICIPANT #2 to construct a juvenile detention
center to be operated by PA Child Care.

8. On or about January 29, 2002, defendant MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN, acting in his capacity as President Judge of ILuzerne

County, signed a “Placement Guarantee Agreement” between PA Child
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Care and the Court of Common Pleas for Luzerne County to house
juvenile offenders at the PA Child Care facility. The "Placement
Guarantee Agreement” provided that the Court of Common Pleas for
Luzerne County would pay PA Child Care the annual “Rental
Installment” sum of $1,314,000 and stipulated that ®“[t]he
obligation of the Court to make payment of the Rental
Installments shall be absolute.and unconditional.”

10. In or about December, 2002, defendant MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN, acting in his capacity as President Judge of Luzerne
County, took official action to remove funding from the Luzerne
County Court budget for the Luzerne County juvenile detention
facility. The practical effect of this action was to close the
Luzerne County youth detention center.

11. In or before January of 2003, defendant MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN and defendant MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. arranged to receive
a payment in the amount of $997,600 in connection with the roles
they played as judges in accomplishing the construction of the PA
child Care juvenile detention facility.

12. In order to conceal the $997,600 payment to defendants
CONAHAN and CIAVARELLA, JR., PARTICIPANT #1 and PARTICIPANT #2
signed a written “Registration and Commission Agreement” prepared
by PARTICIPANT #2 and backdated to February 19, 2002, which
purported to be an agreement for PARTICIPANT #2 to pay a broker’s

fee of $997,600 to PARTICIPANT #1. In fact, however, a large
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portion of the money was paid to defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.

13. MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. engaged
in a series of financial transactions, over time, designed to
conceal the $997,600 payment made to them. On January 21, 2003,
$610,000 was wire transferred by PARTICIPANT #2 to an attorney
trust account of an attorney other than PARTICIPANT #1. The
remaining $387,600 was wire transferred by PARTICIPANT #2 to a
bank account under the control of PARTICIPANT #1.

14. Thereafter, on January 28, 2003, the $610,000 in the
attorney trust account was wire transferred to a bank account of
Beverage Marketing of PA, Inc., a business entity controlled by
defendant MICHAEL T. CONAHAN. L _____

15. In a series of financial transactions thereafter, a
portion of the $610,000 payment was passed from defendant MICHAEL
T. CONAHAN to defendant MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. For example, on
or about January 28, 2003, the defendant MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
directed that $330,000 of the $610,000 be wire transferred to a
bank account controlled by the defendant MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.;
on or about April 30, 2003, the defendant MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
directed that an additional $75,000 of the $610,000 be wire
transferred to a bank account controlled by the defendant MARK A.

CIAVARELLA, JR.; on or about July 15, 2003, the defendant MICHAEL

T. CONAHAN directed that an additional $75,000 of the $610,000
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wire transferred to a bank account under the control of the
defendant MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.; on or about August 13, 2003,
the defendant MICHAEL T. CONAHAN directed that an additional
$25,000 of the $610,000 be wire transferred to a bank account
under the control of a third party; and, on or about August 20,
2003, the defendant MICHAEL T. CONAHAN directed that an
additional $105,000 of the $610,000 be transferred to a bank
account under the control of the defendant MICHAEL T. CONAHAN.
16. To conceal the payments to defendants MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR., defendant MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
directed that false entries be made in the books and records of

Beverage Marketing of PA, Inc.

) }jf__To further cpnggal_the §997,§00 payment made to MICHAEL
T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR., a portion of the $387,600
wire transfer made by PARTICIPANT #2 to PARTICIPANT #l1 on January
28, 2003, was paid to the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK
A. CIAVARELLA, JR. in a series of financial transactions which
occurred over time. One of those transactions occurred on or
about August 29, 2003, when a check in the amount of $326,000,
drawn on a bank account under the control of PARTICIPANT #1 was
deposited into a bank account maintained in the name of the wife
of defendant MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and under the control of the
defendant MICHAEL T. CONAHAN.

18. Due to the success of the juvenile detention facility
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operated in Luzerne County, PARTICIPANT #1 and his partner, doing
business as Western PA Child Care, constructed a juvenile
detention facility in western Pennsylvania. PARTICIPANT #2, the
same contractor who built the facility in Luzerne County, was
employed to construct the Western PA Child Care facility. 1In
July of 2005, upon completion of construction, a $1,000,000
payment was made to defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A.
CIAVARELLA, JR. by PARTICIPANT #1.

19. In order to conceal the payment to defendants CONAHAN
and CIAVARELLA, JR., PARTICIPANT #1 and PARTICIPANT #2 signed a
written “Registration and Commission Agreement” prepared by
PARTICIPANT #2 which purported to be an agreement for PARTICIPANT
#2 to pay a broker's fee of $1,000,000 to PARTICIPANT #1. In
fact, however, the money was wire transferred by PARTICIPANT #2
to a bank account of the Pinnacle Group of Jupiter, LLC, a
business entity owned by the wives of MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK
A, CIAVARELLA, JR.

20. PARTICIPANT #l1 and his partner, doing business as PA
Child Care, constructed an addition to the juvenile detention
facility in Luzerne County. PARTICIPANT #2, the same contractor
who built the facility, was employed to complete the expansion
project and, in February of 2006, upon completion of construction
of the addition, a $150,000 payment was made to defendants

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.
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21. In order to conceal the payment to defendants CONAHAN
and CIAVARELLA, JR., PARTICIPANT #1 and PARTICIPANT #2 signed a
written “Registration and Commission Agreement” prepared by
PARTICIPANT #2 which purported to be an agreement for PARTICIPANT
#2 to pay a broker’'s fee of $150,000 to PARTICIPANT #1. 1In fact,
however, the money was wire transferred by PARTICIPANT #2 to a
bank account of the Pinnacle Group of Jupiter, LLC, a business
entity owned by the wives of MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A.
CIAVARELLA, JR.

22. In approximately February of 2003, when construction of
the PA Child Care juvenile detention facility was completed,
defendant MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR., in his capacity as a juvenile
court judge, began directing that youthful offenders be sent to
that facility. Between approximately February of 2003 and
January 1, 2007, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A.
CIAVARELLA, JR. demanded and received from PARTICIPANT #1
hundreds of thousands of dollars in payments for their past and
anticipated future official actions relating to PA Child Care and
Western PA Child Care and took steps to conceal and disguise the
nature, location, source, ownership and control of the money paid
by PARTICIPANT #1.

23. Some of the payments were made by checks drawn on one
or more bank accounts under the control of PARTICIPANT #1 and

were made payable to the Pinnacle Group of Jupiter, LLC. The
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payments included, but were not necessarily limited to, the
following: $18,000 paid on or about January 13, 2004; $52,000
paid on or about January 13, 2004; $78,000 paid on or about
February 15, 2004; $75,000 paid on or about February 15, 2004;
$47,000 paid on or about February 15, 2004; $75,000 paid on or
about April 30, 2004; and $25,000 paid on or about April 30,
2004.

24. To conceal the payments to defendant MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
and defendant MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR., PARTICIPANT #1 made.false
notations on the checks and defendant MICHAEL T. CONAHAN directed
that false entries be made in the books and records.of Pinnacle
Group of Jupiter, LLC and Beverage Marketing of PA, Inc.

25. In addition to payments by check, some of the payments

were made by wire transfers made from one or more bank accounts
under the control of PARTICIPANT #1 and were transferred to an
account under the control of the Pinnacle Group of Jupiter, LLC.
The payments included, but were not necessarily limited to, the
following: $120,000 transferred on July 12, 2004; and $100,000
transferred on September 23, 2004.

26. Additicnal payments to the defendants from PARTICIPANT
#1 were cash payments. Those cash payments included, but were
not necessarily limited to, the following: $42,000 paid on or
about August 16, 2006; $20,000 paid on or about November 1, 2006;

$50,000 paid on or about November 20, 2006; $31,500 paid on or

10
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about December 18, 2006.

27. In order to conceal the more than $2,800,000 in
unlawful payments they received, the defendants MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. knowingly and intentionally
filed mate;ially false annual statements of financial interests
with the Administrative Office of the Pennsylvania Courts in
which they failed to disclose the source of these payments and in
which they failed to disclose their financial relationship with
PARTICIPANT #1, PARTICIPANT #2, PA Child Care and Western PA
Child Care, all of which were material matters.

E. THE PATTERN OF RACKETEERING ACTIVITY

28. The pattern of racketeering activity, as defined in

___Title 18, United States_Code, Sections 1961(1) and (5), through
which the defendants conducted and participated in the conduct of
the affairs of the enterprise, included the following

racketeering acts, among others:

a. Racketeering Act One (Wire Fraud) - Wire Transfers
Totaling $997,.600 Made In Connection With Construction
of PA Child Care Juvenile Detention Facility

29. Between on or about June of 2000 and on or about
January 1, 2004, the exact dates being unknown, in the Middle
District of Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL
T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. devised and intended to
devise a material scheme and artifice to defraud and deprive the

Judiciary of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the citizens of

11
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the Commonwealth of Penhsylvania of their rights to the honest
serxrvices of MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A CIAVARELLA, JR.,
performed free from deceit, favoritism, bias, self-enrichment,

self-dealing, concealment, and conflicts of interest.

30. The defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A.
CIAVARELLA, JR., together with other persons known and unknown,
committed the following acts, any one of which alone constitutes
Racketeering Act One.

i. RACKETEERING ACT 1.1

31. On or about January 21, 2003, for the purpose of
executing the scheme and artifice to defraud and deprive the
citizens of Luzerne County and the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania

-~ - ————eof—their right-te-the-honest sexrvices—of the defendants,the —_________ _
defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.
knowingly transmitted and caused to be transmitted by means of
wire communication in interstate or foreign commerce a wire
transfer of $610,000 to an attorney escrow bank account, in
violation of Title 18, United States Code, §§ 2, 1343 and 1346.

ii. RACKETEERING ACT 1.2

32. On or about January 24, 2003, for the purpose of
executing the scheme and artifice to defraud and deprive the
citizens of Luzerne County and the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
of their right to the honest services of the defendants, the

defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.

12
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knowingly transmitted and caused to be transmitted by means of
wire communication in interstate or foreign commerce a wire
transfer of $387,600 to an attorney bank account, in violation of

Title 18, United States Code, §§ 2, 1343 and 1346.

b. acketeeri A 0 (Wire Fra - $1,000,00
Pavyme iav a In
Connection With Construction of Western PA Child

Care Juvenile Detention Facility

33. Between on or about January 1, 2004 and on or about
July 15, 2005, the exact dates being unknown, in the Middle
District of Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL
T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELIA, JR. devised and intended to
devise a material scheme and artifice to defraud and deprive the

Judiciary of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the citizens of

the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania of their rights'Eo the honest
services of MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A CIAVARELLA, JR.,
performed free from deceit, favoritism, bias, self-enrichment,

self -dealing, concealment and conflicts of interest.

34. On or about July 15, 2005, for the purpose of executing
the scheme and artifice to defraud and deprive the citizens of
Luzerne County and the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania of their
right to the honest services of the defendants, the defendants
MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. knowingly
transmitted and caused to be transmitted by means of wire
communication in interstate or foreign commerce a wire transfer
of $1,000,000 to a bank account of the Pinnacle Group of Jupiter,

13
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LLC, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, §§ 2, 1343 and

1346.
c. Racketeering Act Three (Wi Fr - Pa o)
50,000 Ma o Co iavarella In C ection
With E i of P C Juvenile Detenti
Facility

35. From on or about January 1, 2005 to on or about
February 3, 2006, the exact dates being unknown, in the Middle
District of Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL
T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. devised and intended to
devise a material scheme and artifice to defraud and deprive the
Judiciary of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the citizens of
the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania of their rights to the honest
services of MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A CIAVARELLA, JR.,

performed free from decelt favoritism, bias, self-enrichment,

self-dealing, concealment, and conflicts of interest.

36. On or about February 3, 2006, for the purpose of
executing the scheme and artifice to defraud and deprive the
citizens of Luzerne County and the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
of their right to the honest services of the defendants, the
defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.
knowingly transmitted and caused to be transmitted by means of
wire communication in interstate or foreign commerce a wire
transfer of $150,000 to a bank account of the Pinnacle Group of
Jupiter, LLC, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, §§ 2,
1343 and 1346.

14
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4. erin c o) - 70 id to an
iav 20 00

37. In furtherance of the offense, the defendants MICHAEL
T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR., committed the following
acts, any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Four.

i. RACKETEERING ACT 4.1 (Extortion Under Color of Official
Right - Checks Totaling $70,000)

38, On or about January 20, 2004, in the Middle District
of Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly, intentionally and
wilfully affect, and attempt to affect, interstate commerce and
the movement of articles and commodities in commerce by

extortion, as those terms are defined in Title 18, United States

__Code, § 1951; that is, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK_

A. CIAVARELLA, JR. obtained property from another, namely, two
checks totaling $70,000, which were payable from a bank account
controlled by PARTICIPANT #1, not due the defendants or their
office, with that other’s consent, under color of official right,
in violation of Title 18, United States Code, § 1951.

ii. RACKETEERING ACT 4.2 (Bribery Chargeable Under State
Law - Checks Totaling $70,000)

39. On or about January 20, 2004, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania, and elgewhere, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly commit bribery, that
is, the defendants solicited, accepted and agreed to accept from

another, namely PARTICIPANT #1, monetary benefits, to wit, two

15
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checks totaling $70,000, which were payable from a bank account
controlled by PARTICIPANT #1, as consideration for violations of
known legal duties of the defendants as public servants, in

violation of Title 18, Pa.C.S. § 4701(a) (3).

e. Racketeering Act Five - ($200,000 Paid to Conahan and
Ciavarella Between February 15, 2004 and February 24,
2004)

40. In furtherance of the offense, the defendants MICHAEIL
T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR., committed the following
acts, any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Five.

i. RACKETEERING ACT 5.1 (Extortion Under Color of Official
Right - Checks Totaling $200,000)

41. Between on or about February 15, 2004 and on or about
February 24, 2004, in the Middle District of Pennsylvania, and
elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. =7~
CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly, intentionally and wilfully affect,
and attempt to affect, interstate commerce and the movement of
articles and commodities in commerce by extortion, as those terms
are defined in Title 18, United States Code, § 1951; that is, the
defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.
obtained property from another, namely, three checks totaling
$200,000, which were payable from a bank account of Vision
Holdings, Inc. controlled by PARTICIPANT #1, not due the
defendants or their office, with that other’s consent, under

color of official right, in violation of Title 18, United States

Code, § 1951.

16
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ii. RACKETEERING ACT 5.2 (Bribery Chargeable Under State
Law - Checks Totaling $200,000)

42. Between on or about February 15, 2004 and on or about
February 24, 2004, in the Middle District of Pennsylvania, and
elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A.
CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly commit bribery, that is, the
defendants solicited, accepted and agreed to accept from another,
namely PARTICIPANT #1, monetary benefits, to wit, three checks
totaling $200,000, which were payable from a bank account of
Vision Holdings, Inc. controlled by PARTICIPANT #1, as
consideration for violations of known legal duties of the
defendants as public servants, in violation of Title 18, Pa.C.S.

§ 4701 (a) (3).

f. Racketeering Act Six - ($100,000 Paid to Conahan and T

43. In furtherance of the offense, the defendants MICHAEL
T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR., committed the following
acts, any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Six.

i. RACKETEERING ACT 6.1 (Extortion Under Color of Official
Right - Checks Totaling $100,000)

44. On or about April 30, 2004, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly, intentionally and
wilfully affect, and attempt to affect, interstate commerce and
the movement of articles and commodities in commerce by

extortion, as those terms are defined in Title 18, United States

17
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Code, § 1951; that is, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK
A. CIAVARELLA, JR. obtained property from another, namely, two
checks totaling $100,000, which were payable from a bank account
of Vision Holdings, Inc. controlled by PARTICIPANT #1, not due
the defendants or their office, with that other’s consent, under
color of official right, in violation of Title 18, United States
Code, § 1951.

ii. RACKETEERING ACT 6.2 (Bribery Chargeable Under State
Law - Checks Totaling $100,000)

45. On or about April 30, 2004, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly commit bribery, that
is, the defendants solicited, accepted and agreed to accept from
-énother, namely PARTICIPANT #1, monetary benefits, to wit, two
checks totaling $100,000, which were payable from a bank account
of Vision Holdings, Inc. controlled by PARTICIPANT #1, as
consideration for violations of known legal duties of the
defendants as public servants, in violation of Title 18, Pa.C.S.

§ 4701(a) (3).

g. Racketeering Act Seven - ($120,000 Paid to Conahan
and Ciavarella on July 12, 2004)

46. In furtherance of the offense, the defendants MICHAEL
T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR., committed the following
acts, any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Seven.

i. RACKETEERING ACT 7.1 (Extortion Under Color of Official
Right - Wire Transfer of $120,000)

18
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47. On or about July 12, 2004, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly, intentionally and
wilfully affect, and attempt to affect, interstate commerce and
the movement of articles and commodities in commerce by
extortion, as those terms are defined in Title 18, United States
Code, § 1951; that is, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK
A. CIAVARELLA, JR. obtained property from another, namely, a wire
transfer of $120,000, which was transferred from a bank account

of Vision Holdings, Inc. controlled by PARTICIPANT #1, not due

the defendants or their office, with that other’s consent, under
color of official right, in violation of Title 18, United States
Code, § 1951.

ii. RACKETEERING ACT 7.2 (Bribery Chargeable Under State
Law - Wire Transfer of $120,000)

48. On or about July 12, 2004, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly commit bribery, that
is, the defendants solicited, accepted and agreed to accept from
another, namely PARTICIPANT #1, monetary benefits, to wit, a wire
transfer of $120,000, which was transferred from a bank account
of Vision Holdings, Inc. controlled by PARTICIPANT #1, as
consideration for violations of known legal duties of the
defendants as public servants, in violation of Title 18, Pa.C.S.

§ 4701(a) (3).

19
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h. eteeri Act Eight - 100,000 Paid to Conahan d
Ciavarella on September 23, 2004)

49. In furtherance of the offense, the defendants MICHAEL
T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR., committed the following
acts, any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Eight.

i. RACKETEERING ACT 8.1 (Extortion Under Color of Official
Right - Wire Transfer of $100,000)

50. On or about September 23, 2004, in the Middle
District of Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL
T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly,
intentionally and wilfully affect, and attempt to affect,
interstate commerce and the movement of articles and commodities
in commerce by extortion, as those terms are defined in Title 18,
United States Code, § 1951; that is, the defendants MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. obtained property from
another, namely, a wire transfer of $100,000, which was
transferred from a bank account of Vision Holdings, Inc.
controlled by PARTICIPANT #1, not due the defendants or their
office, with that other’s consent, under color of official right,
in violation of Title 18, United States Code, § 1951.

ii. RACKETEERING ACT 8.2 (Bribery Chargeable Under State
Law - Wire Transfer of $100,000)

51. On or about September 23, 2004, in the Middle District
of Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly commit bribery, that

is, the defendants solicited, accepted and agreed to accept from
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another, namely PARTICIPANT #1, monetary benefits, to wit, a wir
transfer of $100,000, which was transferred from a bank account
of Vision Holdings, Inc. controlled by PARTICIPANT #1, as
consideration for violations of known legal duties of the
defendants as public servants, in violation of Title 18, Pa.C.S.

§ 4701 (a) (3).

i. - Racketeering Act Nine - ($42,000 Paid to Conahan and
Ciavarella on Auqust 16, 2006)

52. In furtherance of the offense, the defendants MICHAEL
T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR., committed the following

acts, any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Nine.

i. RACKETEERING ACT 9.1 (Extortion Under Color of Official
Right - Cash Payment of $42,000)

53. On or about August 16, 2006, in the Middle District
of Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly, intentionally and
wilfully affect, and attempt to affect, interstate commerce and
the movement of articles and commodities in commerce by
extortion, as those terms are defined in Title 18, United States
Code, § 1951; that is, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK
A. CIAVARELLA, JR. obtained property from another, namely, cash
in the amount of $42,000, which was transferred from PARTICIPANT
#1, not due the defendants or their office, with that other’s
consent, under color of official right, in violation of Title 18,

United States Code, § 1951.
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ii. RACKETEERING ACT 9.2 (Bribery Chargeable Under State
Law - Cash Payment of $42,000)

54. On or about August 16, 2006, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
and ‘MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly commit bribery, that
is, the defendants solicited, accepted and agreed to accept from
another, namely PARTICIPANT #1, monetary benefits, to wit, cash
in the amount of $42,000, which was transferred by PARTICIPANT
#1, as consideration for violations of known legal duties of the
defendants as public servants, in violation of Title 18, Pa.C.S.

§ 4701 (a) (3).

55. In furtherance of the offense, the defendants MICHAEL
T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR., committed the following
acts, any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Ten.

i. RACKETEERING ACT 10.1 (Extortion Under Color of
Official Right - Cash Payment of $20,000)

56. On or about November 1, 2006, in the Middle District
of Pennsylvania, and elsewhére, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly, intentionally and
wilfully affect, and attempt to affect, interstate commerce and
the movement of articles and commodities in commerce by
extortion, as those terms are defined in Title 18, United States
Code, § 1951; that is, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK

A. CIAVARELLA, JR. obtained property from another, namely, cash
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in the amount of $20,000, which was transferred from PARTICIPANT
#1, not due the defendants or their office, with that other's
consent, under color of official right, in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, § 1951.

ii. RACKETEERING ACT 10.2 (Bribery Chargeable Under State
Law - Cash Payment of $20,000)

57. On or about November 1, 2006, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly commit bribery, that
is, the defendants solicited, accepted and agreed to accept from
another, namely PARTICIPANT #1, monetary benefits, to wit, cash
in the amount of $20,000, which was transferred by PARTICIPANT
#1, as consideration for violations of known legal duties of the
‘defendants as public servants, in violation of Title 18, Pa.C.S.
§ 4701 (a) (3).

k. Racketeering Act Eleven - (850,000 Paid to Copnahan and

Ciavarella on November 20, 2006)

58. In furtherance of the offense, the defendants MICHAEL
T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR., committed the following
acts, any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Eleven.

i. RACKETEERING ACT 11.1 (Extortion Under Color of
Official Right - Cash Payment of $50,000)

59. On or about November 20, 2006, in the Middle District
of Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly, intentionally and

wilfully affect, and attempt to affect, interstate commerce and
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the movement of articles and commodities in commerce by
extortion, as those terms are defined in Title 18, United States
Code, § 1951; that is, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK
A. CIAVARELLA, JR. obtained property from another, namely, cash
in the amount of $50,000, which was transferred from PARTICIPANT
#1, not due the defendants or their office, with that other's
consent, under color of official right, in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, § 1951.

ii. RACKETEERING ACT 11.2 (Bribery Chargeable Under State
Law - Cash Payment of $50,000)

60. On or about November 20, 2006, in the Middle District
of Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly commit bribery, that
is, the defendants solicited, accepted and agreed to accept from
another, namely PARTICIPANT #1, monetary benefits, to wit, cash
in the amount of $50,0000, which was transferred by PARTICIPANT
#1, as consideration for violations of known legal duties of the
defendants as public servants, in violation of Title 18, Pa.C.S.

§ 4701 (a) (3).

1. Racketeering Act Twelve - ($31,500 Paid to Conahan and
Ciava;gl}g on December 18, 2006)

61. In furtherance of the offense, the defendants MICHAEL
T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR., committed the following
acts, any one of which alone constitutes Racketeering Act Twelve.

i, RACKETEERING ACT 12.1 (Extortion Under Color of
Official Right - Cash Payment of $31,500)
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62. On or about December 18, 2006, in the Middle District

of Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly, intentionally and
wilfully affect, and attempt to affect, interstate commerce and
the movement of articles and commodities in commerce by
extortion, as those terms are defined in Title 18, United States
Code, § 1951; that is, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK
A. CIAVARELLA, JR. obtained property from another, namely, cash
in the amount of $31,500, which was transferred from PARTICIPANT
#1, not due the defendants or their office, with that other’s
consent, under color of official right, in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, § 1951.

ii. . RACKETEERING ACT 12.2 (Bribery Chargeable Under State
Law - Cash Payment of $31,500)

63. On or about December 18, 2006, in the Middle District
of Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly commit bribery, that
is, the defendants solicited, accepted and agreed to accept from
another, namely PARTICIPANT #1, monetary benefits, to wit, cash
in the amount of $31,500, which was transferred by PARTICIPANT
#1, as consideration for violations of known legal duties of the
defendants as public servants, in violation of Title 18, Pa.C.S.
§ 4701 (a) (3).

m. Ra eerin ct Thirteen oney lLaundering Conspirac

64. From in or about December, 2001 to on or about the date
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of this Indictment, in the Middle District of Pennsylvania, and
elsewhere, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A.
CIAVARELLA, JR. did knowingly, intentionally and wilfully
combine, conspire, confederate and agree together with one
another, and together wifh other persons both known and unknown
to the grand jury, to commit the following offense against th&
United States, namely, to knowingly conduct and attempt to
conduct a financial transaction affecting interstate commerce
which involved the proceeds of a specified unlawful activity,
knowing that the transaction was designed in whole and in part to
conceal and disguige the.nature, location, source, ownership and
control of the proceeds of said specified unlawful activity and
that while conducting and attempting to conduct such financial
transaction knew that the pfbéerty involved in the financial
transaction represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful
activity, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, §
1956 (h) .

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, §§ 2 and

1962 (c).
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Count 2

18 U.s.C. § 1962(qA)
(Racketeering Conspiracy)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

65. The allegations contained in Count 1 of this
Indictment are hereby re-alleged and incorporated by reference as
if fully set forth herein.

.66. From on or about December, 2001, the exact date being
unknown, to on or about the date of this Indictment, in the
Middle District of Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants,

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and
MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.,

together with other persons known and unknown to the grand jury,
being persons employed by and associated with an Enterprise,
which Enterprise engaged in, and the activities of which
affected, interstate and foreign commerce, did knowingly and
intentionally combine, conspire, confederate and agree to violate
18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), that is, to conduct and participate,
directly and indirectly, in the conduct of the affairs of the
Enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity, that is,
through the commission of the racketeering acts specified in
Count 1 of this Indictment, among others.

67. As part of the conspiracy, the defendants MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. did agree that they and their

coconspirators would commit at least two acts of racketeering
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activity which amounted to a pattern of racketeering activity in

the conduct of the affairs of the Enterprise.

All in vieclation of Title 18, United States Code, § 1962(d).
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Counts 3-6

18 U.S.C. §§ 1343, 1346 and 2)
(Honest Services Wire Fraud)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

68. The allegations contained in Counts 1 and 2 of this
Indictment are hereby re-alleged and incorporated by reference as
if fully set forth herein.

69. From in or about June, 2000, the exact date being
unknown to the grand jury, to on or about the date of the filing
of this Indictment, in the Middle District of Pennsylvania; and
elsewhere, the defendants,

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and
MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.,

each aiding and abetting the other and each aided and abetted by
the other and by other persons known and unknown, devised and
intended to devise a material scheme and artifice to defraud the
citizens of Luzerne County, the citizens of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania and the Judiciary of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania and to deprive those citizens and the judiciary of
their right to the honest services of MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK
A. CIAVARELLA, JR. as judges of the Court of Common Pleas for
Luzerne County, performed free from deceit, favoritism, bias,
self-enrichment, self-dealing, concealment, and conflict of

interest.
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THE RIGHT HONEST IC

70. At all times material to this Indictment, the
defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. were
elected judges of the Court of Common Pleas for Luzerne County,
Pennsylvania and as such were public officials. The defendants
MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. owed a fiduciary
duty to the public and to the Judiciary of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania not to realize personal financial gain through their
office other than compensation provided by law, to refrain from
conduct that constitutes a conflict of interest or that
constitutes seeking or accepting improper influence, to recuse
themselves from matters in which they have a conflict of
interest, and to file a truthful_and.complete. annual.-statement.of
financial interests, reporting the sourdes of all income, direct
or indirect.

71. Part of the fiduciary duty owed by the defendants arose
from constitutional law, including, Article 5, §§ 17(b) and 17(c)
of the Pennsylvania Constitution.

72. Part of the fiduciary duty owed by the defendants,
independent of constitutional or statutory law, arose from the
defendants’ positions as judges of the Court of Common Pleas,
including requirements of the Pennsylvania Code of Judicial
Conduct and Administrative Orders of the Pennsylvania Supreme

Court regarding matters related to Judges of the Court of Common
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Pleas. Among other things, the fiduciary duty owed by the
defendants included the duty arising from their positions as
judges to disclose material information affecting their ability
to engage in impartial decision-making.
S M (0]3) F DEF

73. It was a part of the scheme and artifice to defraud
that the defendants agreed together, and with others known and
unknown to the Grand Jury, to engage in the course of conduct
alleged in the “MANNER, MEANS AND METHODS OF THE DEFENDANTS”
section of Count 1 of this Indictment. Those allegations are
hereby re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set
forth herein. As further described herein, the defendants
_defrauded the citizens of Luzerne County, the citizens of the _
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the Judiciary of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and deprived those citizens and the
Judiciary of their right to the honest services of the defendants
by: (1) engaging in undisclosed biased decision-making for
personal gain; and, (2) knowingly soliciting, extorting and
accepting gquid pxro guo bribes as part of a generalized agreement
to improperly exert influence on behalf of the bribe payer as
specific opportunities arose to do so.

74. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to
defraud that the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A.

CIAVARELLA, JR. knowingly and intentionally filed materially

31




=== “
Case 3:09-cr-00272-EMK Document 1-2 Filed 09/09/09 Page 32 of 78

false annual statements of financial interests with the
Administrative Office of the Pennsylvania Courts.in which they
failed to disclose the source of income they received and in
which they failed to disclose their financial relationship with
PARTICIPANT #1, PARTICIPANT #2, PA Child Care and Western PA
Child Care, which were material matters.

75. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to
defraud that the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A.
CIAVARELLA, JR., acting on behalf of the Court of Common Pleas
for Luzerne County in matters in which they had discretionary
decision-making authority, knowingly and intentionally issued
written, oral and wire communications which were materially false
of interest and their financial relationship with PARTICIPANT #1,
PARTICIPANT #2, PA Child Care and Western PA Child Care, which
were material matters.

76. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to
defraud that the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A.
CIAVARELLA, JR., acting on behalf of the Court of Common Pleas
for Luzerne County in matters in which they had discretionary
decision-making authority, knowingly and intentionally issued
reports and statements to the Administrative Office of the
Pennsylvania Courts which were materially false to the extent

that the defendants did not disclose their conflict of interest
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and their financial relationship with PARTICIPANT #1 PARTICIPANT
#2, PA Child Care and Western PA Child Care, which were material
matters.

77. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to
defraud that the defendant MICHAEL T. CONAHAN entered into
agreements guaranteeing placement of juvenile offenders with PA
Child Care and Western PA Child Care and took official action to
remove funding from the Luzerne County Court budget for the
Luzerne County juvenile detention facility. The practical effect
of this action was to close the Luzerne County youth detention
center. The defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A.
CIAVARELLA, JR., through their actions, facilitated the
construction of juvenile detention facilities and an expansion to
one of those facilities by PA Child Care and Western PA Child
Care and directed that juvenile offenders be lodged at juvenile
detention facilities operated by PA Child Care and Western PA
Child Care. Through their actions, the defendants assisted Pa
Child Care and Western PA Child Care to secure agreements with
Luzerne County worth tens of millions of dollars for the
placement of juvenile offenders, including an agreement in late
2004 worth approximately $58,000,000. It was further a part of
the scheme and artifice to defraud that, on a number of
occasions, accused juvenile offenders were ordered detained by

the defendant MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. even when Juvenile
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Probation Officers did not recommend detention and even when
detention was unreasonable and unwarranted under the
circumstances. The defendant MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR., and others
operating at his behest, also exerted pressure on staff of the
Court of Common Pleas to recommend detention of juvenile
offenders. On some occasions, probation officers were pressured
to change recommendations of release to recommendations of
detention. 1In his capacity as President Judge, the defendant
MICHAEL T. CONAHAN took actions relating to proceedings involving
juvenile offenders who were sent to PA Child Care and Western PA
Child Care facilities. The foregoing actions, as well as other
actions, of the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A.
. CIAVARELLA, JR. related to_matters in which they had o _
discretionary decision-making authority. The defendants MICHAEL
T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. took these actions{ and
other actions, without recusing themselves from matters in which
they had a conflict of interest and without disclosing to parties
involved in court proceedings, and to the Administrative Office
of the Pennsylvania Courts, their conflict of interest and the
financial relationship that existed between the defendants and
PARTICIPANT #1, PARTICIPANT #2, PA Child Care and Western PA
Child Care, which were material matters.

78. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to

defraud that the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A.
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CIAVARELLA, JR. violated their duties of independence,
impartiality and integrity in the exercise of their discretionary
actions on behalf of the Court of Common Pleas for Luzerne County
by failing to recuse themselves from acting in matters in which
they had a material conflict of interest and in failing to
disclose to parties appearing before the court and to the
Administrative Office of the Pennsylvania Courts their conflict
of interest and their financial relationship with PARTICIPANT #1,
PARTICIPANT #2, PA Child Care and Western PA Child Care, which
were material matters.

79. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to
defraud that the defendant MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. adopted
procedures in juvenile court which resulted in juveniles
appearing without counsel and without creation of a normal court
record. The adoption of these procedures was accomplished
through the discretionary decision-making authority of the
defendant MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. The adoption of these
procedures resulted in violation of the constitutional right to
counsel afforded juvenile offenders and created the potential for
an increased number of juvenile offenders to be sent to the
juvenile detention facilities of PA Child Care and Western PA
Child Care. The defendant MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. took these
actions without disclosing to the parties before the court and to

the Administrative Office of the Courts his conflict of interest
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and the financial relationship that existed between the defendant
MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. and PARTICIPANT #1, PARTICIPANT #2, PA
Child Care and Western PA Child Care, which were material
matters.

80. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to
defraud that the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A.
CIAVARELLA, JR. otherwise conducted the affairs of the Court of
Common Pleas, in matters in which they had discretionary
decision-making authority, without disclosing their conflict of
interest and financial relationship with PARTICIPANT #1,
PARTICIPANT #2, PA Child care and Western PA Child Care, knowing
that these were material matters that should have been disclosed
to parties appearing before the court, to the Administrative
Office of Courts and to other persons and entities.

81. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to
defraud that the defendants knowingly solicited, extorted and
accepted quid pro guo bribes as part of a generalized agreement
to improperly exert influence on behalf of PARTICIPANT #1, PA
Child Care and Western PA Child Care as specific opportunities
arose to do so. For instance, as part of the scheme and artifice
to defraud, the defendant MICHAEL T. CONAHAN summarily granted a
motion to seal the record and for injunctive relief in a civil

case related to PA Child Care.
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ION OF THE SCHEME

82. On or about the date of each count listed below, in the
Middle District of Pennsylvania and elsewhere, the defendants
MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A, CIAVARELLA, JR., each aiding and
abetting the other and each aided and abetted by the other and by
other persons known and unknown, for the purpose of executing the
above-described material scheme and artifice to defraud and
deprive the citizens of Luzerne County, the citizens of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the Judiciary of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania of their right to the honest
services of the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A.
CIAVARELLA, JR., transmitted and caused to be transmitted by
means of wire communication in interstate commerce, the following

writings, signals and sounds:

Count Date Wire Transmission
3 July 12, 2004 Electronic funds transfer of

$120,000 transferred from an
account of Vision Holdings,
Inc. to an account of the
Pinnacle Group of Jupiter,
LLC,

4 September 23, 2004 Electronic funds transfer of
$100,000 transferred from an
account of Vision Holdings,
Inc.

5 July 15, 2005 Electronic funds transfer of
$1,000,000 transferred from
an account of Mericle
Construction, Inc. to an
account of Pinnacle Group of
Jupiter, LLC.
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Count Date W ransmi

6 February 3, 2006 Electronic funds transfer of
$150,000 transferred from an
account of Mericle
Construction, Inc. to an
account of Pinnacle Group of
Jupiter, LLC,

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, §§ 2, 1343 and

1346.
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Counts 7-10
18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 1346 and 2)
(Honest Services Mail Fraud)
THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

83. The allegations contained in Counts 1 through 6 of this
Indictment are hereby re-alleged and incorporated by reference as
if fully set forth herein.

84. From in or about January, 2001, the exact date being
unknown to the grand jury, to on or about the date of the filing
of this Indictment, in the Middle District of Pennsylvania, and
elsewhere, the defendant,

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN,

devised and. intended to devise a material scheme and artifice to
defraud the citizens of Luzerne County, the citizens of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the Judiciary of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and to deprive those citizens and
the Judiciary of their right to the honest services of MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN as a judge of the Court of Common Pleas for Luzerne
County, performed free from deceit, favoritism, bias, self-
enrichment, self-dealing, concealment and conflicts of interest.

EXECUTION OF THE SCHEME

85. On or about the date of each count listed below, in the
Middle District of Pennsylvania and elsewhere, the defendant

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN, for the purpose of executing the above-
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described material scheme and artifice to defraud and deprive the
citizens of Luzerme County, the citizens of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania and the Judiciary of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania of their right to the honest services of the
defendant MICHAEL T. CONAHAN, caused to be delivered by the
United States Postal Service and by any private and commercial
interstate carrier to the Administrative Office of the
Pennsylvaﬁia Courts in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, apd thereafter
caused to be delivered by the United States Postal Service and by
any private and commercial interstate carrier to the Judicial
Conduct Board of Pennsylvania in Harrisburg, Middle District of

Pennsylvania, the:following things:

Count Date i escri £ - ams g
7 April, 2004 Materially false annual

statement of financial
interests submitted to the
Administrative Office of the
Pennsylvania Courts

8 March, 2005 Materially false annual
statement of financial
interests submitted to the
Administrative Office of the
Pennsylvania Courts

9 March, 2006 Materially false annual
statement of financial
interests submitted to the
Administrative Office of the
Pennsylvania Courts
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Count Date cripti of in
10 April, 2007 Materially false annual

statement of financial
interests submitted to the
Administrative Office of the
Pennsylvania Courts

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, §§ 2, 1341 and
1346.
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unt 1-14

18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 1346 and 2)
(Honest Services Mail Fraud)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

86. The allegations contained in Counts 1 through 10 of
this Indictment are hereby re—alléged and incorporated by
reference as if fully set forth herein.

87. From in or about January, 2001, the exact date being
unknown to the grand jury, to on or about the date of the filing
of this Indictment, in the Middle District of Pennsylvania, and
elsewhere, the defendant,

MARK A. CTIAVARELIA, JR.,

devised and intended to devise a material scheme and artifice to

defraud the citizens of Luzerne Cbuni&fﬁtﬁe'cifizens of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the Judiciary of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and to deprive those citizens and
the Judiciary of their right to the honest services of MARK A.
CIAVARELLA, JR., as a judge of the Court of Common Pleas for
Luzerne County, performed free from deceit, favoritism, bias,
self-enrichment, self-dealing, concealment and conflicts of
interest.
EXECUTION OF THE SCHEME

88. On or about the date of each count listed below, in the

Middle District of Pennsylvania and elsewhere, the defendant MARK

A. CIAVARELLA, JR., for the purpose of executing the above-
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described material scheme and artifice to defraud and deprive the
citizens of Luzerne County, the citizens of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania and the Judiciary of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania of their right to the honest services of the
defendant MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR., caused to be delivered by the
United States Postal Service and by any private and commercial
interstate carrier to the Administrative Office of the
Pennsylvania Courts in Philadelphia County, Eastern District of
Pennsylvania, and thereafter caused to be delivered by the United
States Postal Service and by any private and commercial
interstate carrier to the Judicial Conduct Board of Pennsylvania
in Harrisburg, Middle District of Pennsylvania, the following
things:

Count Date Description of Thing

11 April, 2004 Materially false annual
statement of financial
interests submitted to the
Administrative Office of the
Pennsylvania Courts

12 March, 2005 Materially false annual
gtatement of financial
interests submitted to the
Administrative Office of the
Pennsylvania Courts

13 April, 2006 Materially false annual
statement of financial
interests submitted to the
Administrative Office of the
Pennsylvania Courts
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Count Date Description of Mailing
14 March, 2007 Materially false annual

statement of financial
interests submitted to the
Administrative Office of the
Pennsylvania Courts

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, §§ 2, 1341 and

1346.
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Counts 15-24
18 U.S.C. § 666(a) (1) (B)
(Corrupt Receipt of Bribe/Reward for Official Action
Concerning Programs Receiving Federal Funds)
THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

89. The allegations contained in Counts 1 through 14 of
this Indictment are hereby re-alleged and incorporated by
reference as if fully set forth herein.

90. As elected judges of the Court of Common Pleas for
Luzerne County the defendants were agents of a number of
government entities, including, but not limited to, the
Administrative Office of the Pennsylvania Courts, a government
agency of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania that employed the
defendants as judges._

91. The Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Luzerne County and
the Court of Common Pleas for Luzerne County each received
federal assistance in excess of $10,000 during each one-year
period beginning on January 1, 2002 and extending through
December 31, 2007.

92. Between on or about January 1, 2002 and on or about
January 1, 2007, in the Middle District of Pennsylvania, and
elsewhere, the defendants,

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.,
each aiding and abetting the other and each aided and abetted by

the other and by other persons known and unknown, did knowingly,
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intentionally and corruptly solicit and demand for their own
benefit, and did accept, and agree to accept, from another
person, multiple monetary payments in amounts of more than
$5,000, intending to be influenced and rewarded in connection
with the business of the government entities they represented as
judges of the Court of Common Pleas for Luzerne County. In
particular, payments were made to and accepted by the defendants
in connection with official actions taken and intended to taken‘
by the defendants to facilitate the planning, construction and
operation of juvenile detention facilities owned, constructed and
operated by PA Child Care and Western PA Child Care.

Each of the following monetary payments, which occurred on

or about the dates indicated, constitutes a separate count of

this Indictment:

Amount and Type of

Count Date a t m Payment
2-15-2004- Vision $200,000 (total of three
15 2-24-2004 Holdings, Inc. checks)
Vision $100,000 (total of two
16 4-30-2004 Holdings, Inc. checks)
Vision
17 7-12-2004 Holdings, Inc. $120,000 Wire Transfer
Vision
18 9-23-2004 Holdings, Inc. $100,000 Wire Transfer
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Amount and Type of

Count Date Pa £ Payment
Mericle

19 7-15-2005 Construction, Inc. $1,000,000 Wire Transfer
Mericle

20 2-3-2006 Construction, Inc. $150,000 Wire Transfer

21 8-16-06 Robert Powell $42,000 Cash

22 11-1-06 Robert Powell $20,000 Cash

23 11-20-06 Robert Powell $50,000 Cash

24 12-18-06 Robert Powell " §31,500 Casi;

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, §§8 2 and

666(a) (1) (B).
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Count 25

18 U.S.C. § 1956 (h)
(Money Laundering Conspiracy)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

93. The allegations contained in Counts 1 through 24 of
this Indictment are hereby re-alleged and incorporated by
reference as if fully set forth herein. |

94. From on or about January 1, 2001, and continuing up to
on or about the date of this Indictment, in the Middle District
of Pennsylvania and elsewhere, the defendants,

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.,
together with others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, did

knowingly, intentionally and wilfully combine, conspire,

confederate and agree with one another and with other persons
known and unknown to the grand jury to commit certain offenses
against the United States as follows:

a. Knowing that the property involved in a financial
transaction represented the proceeds of some form of
unlawful activity, conducted and attempted to conduct a
financial transaction which in fact involved the
proceeds of the specified unlawful activity knowing
that the transaction was designed in whole and in part
to conceal and disguise the nature, the location, the
source, the ownership and the control of the proceeds
of a specified unlawful activity in violation of 18
U.s.cC.

§ 1956(a) (1) (B) (1); and,

b. To knowingly engage and attempt to engage in one or
more monetary transaction(s) in criminally derived
property that was of a value greater than $10,000 and
which was derived from specified unlawful activity,
namely, wire fraud and extortion, in violation of 18
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U.s.C. 1957.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, § 1956(h).
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Count 26

18 U.S.C. § 1956(a) (1) (B) (1)
(Money Laundering)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

95. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by reference, as
though fully set forth herein, each of the allggations contained
in Counts 1 through 25 of this Indictment.

96. On or about January 20, 2004, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants,

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.,
each aiding and abetting the other and each aided and abetted by
the other and by other persons known and unknown, did knowingly
and intentionally conduct, attempt to conduct and did cause to be
conducted a financial transaction affecting interstate commerce,
to wit, the depositing of the following two checks:

a. Check number 101 in the amount of $18,000,

identified on the face of the check as “Rent
Prepay,” and

b. Check number 1002 in the amount of $52,000, identified
on the face of the check as “Rent/Marine Prepay,”

issued to the Pinnacle Group of Jupiter, LLC, which involvedlthe
proceeds of a specified unlawful activity, that is, extortion
under color of official right, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1951,
knowing that the transactions were designed in whole and in part
to conceal and disguise the nature, location, source, ownership

and control of the proceeds of said specified unlawful activity
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and that while conducting and attempting to conduct such
financial transactions knew that the property involved in the
financial transactions, that is, funds in the amount of $70,000,

represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, §§

1956 (a) (1) (B) (1) and 2.
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Count 27

18 U.S.C. § 1956(a) (1) (B) (1)
(Money laundering)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

97. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by reference, as
though fully set forth herein, each of the allegations contained
in Counts 1 through 26 of this Indictment.

98. On or about February 24, 2004, in the Middle District
of Pennsylvania and elsewhere, the defendants,

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.,

each aiding and abetting the other and each aided and abetted by
the other and by other persons known and unknown, did knowingly
conduct, attempt to conduct and did cause to be conducted a
financial transaction affecting interstate commerce, to wit, the
depositing of the following three checks:
1. Check number 161 in the amount of $78, 000,
identified on the face of the check as “Reserving

Lease, ”

2. Check number 162 in the amount of $75,000, identified
on the face of the check as “Rental Feb-Mar April,” and

3. Check number 163 in the amount of $47,000,
identified on the face of the check as *“Slip
Rental/Fees Jan-Feb-March & April,”

issued to the Pinnacle Group of Jupiter, LLC which involved the
proceeds of a specified unlawful activity, that is, extortion

under color of official right, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1951,

knowing that the transaction was designed in whole and in part to
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conceal and disguise the nature, location, source, ownership and
control of the proceeds of said specified unlawful activity and
that while conduction and attempting to conduct such financial
transaction knew that the property involved in the financial
transaction, that is funds in the amount of $200,000 represented

the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, §§

1956(a) (1) (B) (i) and 2.
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count 28

18 U.S.C. § 1956(a) (1) (B) (i)
(Money Laundering)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

99. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by reference, as
though fully set forth herein, each of the allegations contained
in Counts 1 through 27 of this Indictment.

100. On or about May.3, 2004, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania and elsewhere, the defendants,

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.,
each aiding and abetting the other and each aided and abetted by
the other and by other persons known and unknown, did knowingly
conduct, attempt to conduct and did cause to be conducted a
financial transaction affecting interstate commerce, to wit, the
depositing of the following two checks:

1. Check number 176 in the amount of $75,000,

identified on the face of the check as “Lease

Expenses April May June,” and

2. Check number 177 in the amount of $25,000,

identified on the face of the check as “Dock

Expenses Related April May June,”
issued to the Pinnacle Group of Jupiter, LLC, which involved the
proceeds of a specified unlawful activity, that is, extortion in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §1951, knowing that the transaction was
designed in whole and in part to conceal and disquise the nature,

location, source, ownership and control of the proceeds of said
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gspecified unlawful activity and that while conducting and
attempting to conduct such financial transaction knew that the
property involved in the financial transaction, that is, funds in
the amount of $100,000, represented the proceeds of some form of

unlawful activity.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, §§

1956 (a) (1) (B) (1) and 2.
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Count 29

18 U.S.C. § 1956(a) (1) (B) (1)
(Money Laundering)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

101. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by reference, as
though fully set forth herein, each of the allegations contained
in Counts 1 through 28 of this Indictment.

102. On or about July 12, 2004, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania and elsewhere, the defendants,

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.,
each aiding and abetting the other and each aided and abetted by
the other and by other persons known and unknown, did knowingly
conduct, attempt to conduct and did cause to be conducted a
financial transaction affecting interstate commerce, to wit, a
wire transfer in the amount of $120,000 from an account of Vision
Holdings, Inc., to an account of the Pinnacle Group of Jupiter,
LLC, which involved the proceeds of a specified unlawful
activity, that is, honest services wire fraud, in violation of 18
U.S.C. §§ 1343 and 1346, extortion under color of official right,
in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1951, and bribery, in violation of 18
Pa.C.S. § 470i(a)(3), knowing that the transaction was designed
in whole and in part to conceal and disguise the nature,
location, source, ownership and control of the proceeds of said
specified unlawful activity and that while conducting and

attempting to conduct such financial transaction knew that the
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property involved in the financial transaction, that is, funds in
the amount of $120,000, represented the proceeds of some form of
unlawful activity.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, §§

1956 (a) (1) (B) (i) and 2.

57




Case 3:09-cr-00272-EMK Document 1-2 Filed 09/09/09 Page 58 of 78

unt 30

l8 U.S.C. § 1956(a) (1) (B) (1)
(Money Laundering)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

103. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by reference, as
though fully set forth herein, each of the allegations contained
in Counts 1 through 29 of this Indictment.

104. On or about September 23, 2004, in the Middle District
of Pennsylvania and elsewhere, the defendants,

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.,
each aiding and abetting the other and each aided and abetted by
the other and by other persons known and unknown, did knowingly
conduct, attempt to conduct and did cause to be conducted a
financial transaction affecting interstate commerce, to wit, a
wire transfer in the amount of $100,000 sent from an account of
Vision Holdings, Inc. to an account of the Pinnacle Group of
Jupiter LLC, which involved the proceeds of a specified unlawful
activity, that is, honest services wire fraud, in violation of 18
U.S.C. §§ 1343 and 1346, extortion under color of official right,
in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1951, and bribery, in violation of 18
Pa.C.S. § 4701(a) (3), knowing that the transaction was designed
in whole and in part to conceal and disguise the nature,
location, source, ownership and control of the proceeds of said
specified unlawful activity and that while conducting and

attempting to conduct such financial transaction knew that the
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property involved in the financial transaction, that is, funds in
the amount of $100,000, represented the proceeds of some form of
unlawful activity.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, §§

1956 (a) (1) (B) (i) and 2.
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31-

18 U.S.C. § 1951
(Extortion Under Color of Official Right)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

105. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by reference, as
though fully set forth herein, each of the allegations contained
in Counts 1 through 30 of this Indictment.

106. On multiple occasions between on or about January 1,
2002, and on or about January 1, 2007, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, the defendants,

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.,
each aiding and abetting the other and each aided and abetted by
the other and by other persons known and unknown, did knowinély,
intentionally and willfully obstruct, delay and affect, and
attempt to obstruct, delay and affect, commerce and the movement
of any article and commodity in commerce by extortion, as those
terms are defined by 18 U.S.C. §§ 1951(b) (2)and 1951 (b) (3), that
is: soliciting, demanding, and accepting property, that is,
payments in cash, check and wire transfer from PARTICIPANT #1,
with his consent, induced by wrongful use of fear and under color
of official right.

Each of the following payments, which occurred on or about
the dates indicated, constitutes a separate count of this

Indictment:

60



Count

31

Date

2-15-2004-

2-24-2004

4-30-2004

7-12-2004

9-23-2004

8-16-06

11-1-06

11-20-06

12-18-06

In violation of Title

Payment From
Vision
Holdings, Inc.
Vision
Holdings, Inc.
Vision
Holdings, Inc.
Vision
Holdings, Inc.

Robert Powell

Robert Powell

Robert Powell

Robert Powell

18,
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Amount and Type of
Payment

$200,000 (total of three
checks)

$100,000 (total of two
checks)

$120,000 Wire Transfer

$100,000 Wire Transfer
$42,000 Cash
$20,000 Cash
$50,000 cash

$31,500 Cash

United States Code, §§ 1951 and 2.
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Count 32

18 U.s.C. § 371
(Conspiracy to Defraud the United States)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

107. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by reference, as
though fully set forth herein, each of the allegations contained
in Counts 1 through 38 of this Indictment.

108. Between on or about January 1, 2002, and on or about
May 21, 2007, in the Middle District of Pennsylvania, and
elsewhere, the defendants,

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and
MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.,

did knowingly, intentionally and willfully combine, conspire,
confederate, and agree fogether with one another, and together
with other persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to
defraud the United States by impeding, impairing, obstructing and
defeating the lawful Government functions of the Internal Revenue
Service of the Treasury Department in the ascertainment,
computation, assessment and collection of the revenue, to wit,
income taxes.
OVERT ACTS

109. In furtherance of the conspiracy, and to effect the
objects thereof, the following overt acts, among others, were
committed in the Middle District of Pennsylvania and elsewhere:

1. On or about January 21, 2003, the defendants caused
PARTICIPANT #2 to wire transfer $610,000 to the bank account of

an attorney;
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2. On or about January 28, 2003, the defendants caused an
attorney in Schuylkill County, Pennsylvania to wire transfer
$610,000 to an account of Beverage Marketing of Pennsylvania,
Inc.;

3. On or about January 28, 2003, the defendant MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN caused $330,000 to be wire transferred from a bank
account of Beverage Marketing of Pennsylvania, Inc. to a bank
account under the control of the defendant MARK A. CIAVARELLA,
JR. ;

4. On or about April 30, 2003, the defendant MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN caused $75,000 to be wire transferred from a bank account
of Beverage Marketing of Pennsylvania, Inc. to a bank account
under the control of the defendant MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.;

5. On or about July 15, 2003, the defendant MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN caused $75,000 to be wire transferred from a bank account
of Beverage Marketing of Pennsylvania, Inc. to a bank account
under the control of the defendant MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.;

6. On or about August 13, 2003, the defendant MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN directed that $25,000 be wire transferred to a bank
account under the control of a third party;

7. On or about August 20, 2003, the defendant MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN directed that $105,000 be transferred to a bank account
under the control of the defendant MICHAEL T. CONAHAN;

8. On or about August 29, 2003, the defendant MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN caused a check in the amount of $326,000 to be deposited

into a bank account maintained in the name of the wife of
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defendant MICHAEL T. CONAHAN;

9. On or about January 20, 2004, the defendants caused
$18,000 to be deposited in a bank account of the Pinnacle Group
of Jupiter, LLC and falsely characterized the deposit in the
records of the Pinnacle Group of Jupiter, LLC as “Rent Prepay”;

10. On or about January 20, 2004, the defendants caused
$52,000.00 to be deposited in a bank account of the Pinnacile
Group of Jupiter, LLC and falsely characterized the deposit in
the records of the Pinnacle Group of Jupiter, LLC as“Rent Marine
Prepay” ;

11. On or about February 24, 2004, the defendants caused
$47,000 to be deposited into a bank account of the Pinnacle Group
of Jupiter, LLC and falsely characterized the deposit in the
records of the Pinnacle Group of Jupiter, LLC “Slip Rental Fees”;

12. On or about Pebruary 24, 2004, the defendants caused
$78,000 to be deposited into a bank account of the Pinnacle Group
of Jupiter, LLC and falsely characterized the deposit in the
records of the Pinnacle Group of Jupiter, LLC as “Reserving
lease”;

13. On or about February 24, 2004, the defendants caused
$75,000 to be deposited into a bank account of the Pinnacle Group
of Jupifer, LLC and falsely characterized the deposit in the
records of the Pinnacle Group of Jupiter, LLC as “Rental Feb,
Mar, Apr”;

14. On or about May 3, 2004, the defendants caused $75,000

to be deposited into a bank account of the Pinnacle Group of
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Jupiter, LLC and falsely characterized the deposit in the records
of the Pinnacle Group of Jupiter, LLC as “Lease Expenses April
May June”;

15. On or about May 3, 2004, the defendants caused $25,000
to be deposited into a bank account of the Pinnacle Group of
Jupiter, LLC and falsely characterized the deposit in the records
of the Pinnacle Group, LLC as “Dock Expenses Related April May
June” ;

16. On or about July 12, 2004, the defendants caused
$120,000 to be wire transferred to a bank account of the Pinnacle
Group of Jupiter, LLC;

17. On or about September 23, 2004, the defendants caused
$100,000 to be wire transferred to a bank account of the Pinnacle
Group of Jupiter, LLC;

18. On or about July 15, 2005, the defendants caused
$1,000,000 to be wire transferred to a bank account of the
Pinnacle Group of Jupiter, LLC;

19. On or about February 3, 2006, the defendants caused
$150,000 to be wire transferred to a bank account of the Pinnacle
Group of Jupiter, LLC;

20. On or about August 16, 2006, the defendant MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN accepted a cash payment of $42,000;

21. On or about November 1, 2006, the defendant MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN accepted a cash payment of $20,000;

22. On or about November 20, 2006, the defendant MICHAEL T.

CONAHAN accepted a cash payment of $50,000;
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23. On or about December 18, 2006, the defendant MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN accepted a cash payment of $31,500;

24. As further overt acts, the Grand Jury hereby
incorporates by reference, as though fully set forth herein, each
of the preceding and succeeding counts of this Indictment. Each
count constitutes a separate overt act in furtherance of the
conspiracy.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, §371.
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Count 40

26 U.S.C. § 7206(1)
(Subscribing and Filing a Materially False Tax Return)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

110. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by reference, as
though fully set forth herein, each of the allegations contained
in Counts 1 through 39 of this Indictment.

111. On or about April 15, 2004, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania and elsewhere, the defendant,

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN,
a resident of Mountaintop, Luzerne County, Pennsylvania, did
willfully make and subscribe, and did cause to be made and
subscribed, an IRS Form 1040, which was verified by a written
declaration that it was made under the penalties of perjury, and
which he did not believe to be true and correct as to every
material matter. That IRS Form 1040, which was prepared and
signed in the Middle District of Pennsylvania and was filed with
the Internal Revenue Service, reported the defendant’s taxable
income for the year 2003 to be $230,671.00, whereas, as he then
and there knew and believed, the defendant’s actual taxable

income for the year 2003 was materially more than that amount.

In violation of Title 26, United States Code, § 7206(1).
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count 41

26 U.S.C. § 7206(1)
(Subscribing and Filing a Materially False Tax Return)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

112. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by reference, as
though fully set forth herein, each of the allegations contained
in Counts 1 through 40 of this Indictment.

113. On or about April 15, 2005, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania and elsewhere, the defendant,

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN,
a resident of Mountaintop, Luzerne County, Pennsylvania, did
willfully make and subscribe, and did cause to be made and
subscribed, an IRS Form 1040, which was verified by a written
declaration that it was made under the penalties of perjury, and
which he did ﬁat“beiié;é_géﬁﬁémffﬂéuéha-cérrect as to every
material matter. That IRS Form 1040, which was prepared and
signed in the Middle District of Pennsylvania and was filed with
the Internal Revenue Service, reported the defendant’s taxable
income for the year 2004 to be $437,300.00, whereas, as he then
and there knew and believed, the defendant’s actual taxable

income for the year 2004 was materially more than that amount.

In violation of Title 26, United States Code, § 7206(1).
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Count 42
26 U.S.C. § 7206(1)

(Subscribing and Filing a Materially False Tax Return)
THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

114. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by reference, as
though fully set forth herein, each of the allegations contained
in Counts 1 through 41 of this Indictment.

115. On or about April 15, 2006, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania and elsewhere, the defendant,

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN,
a resident of Mountaintop, Luzerne County, Pennsylvania, did
willfully make and subscribe, and did cause to be made and,
subscribed, an IRS Form 1040, which was verified by a written
declaration that it was made under the_penalties of perjury, and
which he did not believe to be true and correct as to every
material matter. That IRS Form 1040, which was prepared and
signed in the Middle District of Pennsylvania and was filed with
the Internal Revenue Service, reported the defendant’s taxable
income for the year 2005 to be $889,148.00, whereas, as he then
and there knew and believed, the defendant’s actual taxable
income for the year 2005 was materially more than that amount.

In violation of Title 26, United States Code, § 7206(1).
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Count 43

26 U.S.C. § 7206(1)
(Subscribing and Filing a Materially False Tax Return)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

116. The Grand -Jury hereby incorporates by reference, as
though fully set forth herein, each of the allegations contained
in Counts 1 through 42 of this Indictment.

117. On or about May 21, 2007, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania and elsewhere, the defendant,

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN,
a resident of Mountaintop, Luzerne County, Pennsylvania, did
willfully make and subscribe, and did cause to be made and
subscribed, an IRS Form 1040X, which was verified by a written
declaration that it was made under the penalties of perjury, a d
which he did not believe to be true and correct as to every
material matter. That IRS Form 1040X, which was prepared and
signed in the Middle District of Pennsylvania and was filed with
the Internal Revenue Service, reported the defendant’s taxable
income for the year 2006 to be $273,119, whereas, as he then and
there knew and believed, the defendant’s actual taxable income
for the year 2006 was materially more than that amount.

In violation of Title 26, United States Code, § 7206(1).
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Count. 44

26 U.S.C. § 7206(1)
(Subscribing and Filing a Materially False Tax Return)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

118. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by reference, as
though fully set forth herein, each of the allegations contained
in Counts 1 through 43 of this Indictment.

119. On or about April 15, 2004, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania and elsewhere, the defendant,

MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.,
a resident of Mountaintop, Luzerne County, Pennsylvania, did
willfully make and subscribe, and did cause to be made and
subscribed, an IRS Form 1040, which was verified by a written
declaration that it was made under the penalties of perjury, and
which he did not believe to be true and correéct as to every
material matter. That IRS Form 1040, which was prepared and
signed in the Middle District of Pennsylvania and was filed with
the Internal Revenue Service, reported the defendant’s taxable
income for the year 2003 to be $56,025.00, whereas, as he then
and there knew and believed, the defendant’s actual taxable
income for the year 2003 was materially more than that amount.

In violation of Title 26, United States Code, § 7206(1).
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_ Count 45

26 U.S.C. § 7206(1)
(Ssubscribing and Filing a Materially False Tax Return)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

120. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by reference, as
though fully set forth herein, each of the allegations contained
in Counts 1 through 44 of this Indictment.

121. On or about April 15, 2005, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania and elsewhere, the defendant,

MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.,
a resident of Mountaintop, Luzerne County, Pennsylvania, did
willfully make and subscribe, and did cause to be made and
subscribed, an IRS Form 1040, which was verified by a written
declaration that it was made under the penalties of perjury, and
which he did not believe to be true and correct as to every
material matter. That IRS Form 1040, which was prepared and
signed in the Middle District of Pennsylvania and was filed with
the Internal Revenue Service, reported the defendant’s taxable
income for the year 2004 to be $319,496.00, whereas, as he then
and there knew and believed, the defendant’s actual taxable
income for the year 2004 was materially more than that amount.

In violation of Title 26, United States Code, § 7206(1).
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Count 46

26 U.s.C. § 7206(1)
(Subscribing and Filing a Materially False Tax Return)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

122. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by referencé, as
though fully set forth herein, each of the allegations contained
in Counts 1 through 45 of this Indictment.

123. On or about April 15, 2006, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania and elsewhere, the defendant,

MARK A. CIAVARELLA, -JR.,
a resident of Mountaintop, Luzerne County, Pennsylvania, did
willfully make and subscribe, and did cause to be made and
subscribed, an IRS Form 1040, which was verified by a written
declaration that it was made under the penalties of perjury, and
which he did not believe to be true and correct as to every -
material matter. That IRS Form 1040, which was prepared and
signed in the Middle District of Pennsylvania and was filed with
the Internal Revenue Service, reported the defendant’s taxable
income for the year 2005 to be $496,639.00, whereas, as he then
and there knew and believed, the defendant’s actual taxable
income for the year 2005 was materially more than that amount.

In violation of Title 26, United States Code, § 7206 (1).
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unt. 47

26 U.S.C. § 7206(1)
(Subscribing and Filing a Materially False Tax Return)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:

124. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by reference, as
though fully set forth herein, each of the allegations conﬁaiﬁéd
in Counts 1 through 46 of this Indictment.

125. On or about April 15, 2007, in the Middle District of
Pennsylvania and elsewhere, the defendant,

MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR.,
a resident of Mountaintop, Luzerne County, Pennsylvania, did
willfully make and subscribe, and did cause to be made and
subscribed, an IRS Form 1040, which was verified by a written
declaration that it was made under the penalties of perjury, and
which he did not believe to be true and correct as to every -
material matter. That IRS Form 1040, which was prepared and
signed in the Middle District of Pennsylvania and was filed with
the Internal Revenue Service, reported the defendant’s taxable
income for the year 2006 to be $72,171.00, whereas, as he then
and there knew and believed, the defendant’s actual taxable
income for the year 2006 was materially more than that amount.

In violation of Title 26, United States Code, § 7206(1).
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Count 48

18 U.S.C. §§ 982 and 1963
({Forfeiture)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES:
RICO FORFEITURE

126. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by reference, as
though fully set forth herein, each of the allegations contained
in Counts 1 through 47 of this Indictment for the purpose of
alleging forfeiture to the United States of America pursuant to
the provisions of Title 18, United States Code, § 1963, and Title
28, United States Code, Section 2461(c). Pursuant to Rule 32.2,
Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, notice is hereby given to
the defendants that the United States will seek forfeiture as
part of any sentence, in accordance with Title 18, United States
Code, “§ 1963, in the event of any defendant’s conviction under
Count 1 and Count 2 of this Indictment.

127. As a result of the offenses alleged in Count 1 and
Count 2 of this Indictment, the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and
MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. shall forfeit to the United States all
property, real and personal, involved in the aforestated
offenses, and all property traceable to such property, including
but not limited to:

a. all interests acquired and maintained in violation of
Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962;

b. all interests in, securities of, claims against, and
property and contractual rights of any kind affording a
source of influence over, the enterprise named and
described herein which the defendants MICHAEL T.
CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. established,
operated, controlled, conducted, and participated in
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the conduct of, in violation of Title 18, United States
Code, Section 1962.

c. all property constituting or derived from any proceeds
which the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A.
CIAVARELLA, JR. obtained, directly or indirectly, from
racketeering activity in violation of Title 18, United
States Code, § 1962.

The property subject to forfeiture to the United States

pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1963 (a) (1),

(a) (2) and (a) (3), includes, but is not limited to, the following

assets:
United States currency in the amount of at least
$2,819,500 and all interest and proceeds traceable
thereto, in that such sum in the aggregate is property
which was involved in the aforestated offenses or is

traceable to such property, in violation of Title 18,
United states Code, § 1962.

FRAUD AND MONEY ILAUNDERING FORFEITURE

128. The Grand Jury hereby incorporates by reference, as
though fully set forth herein, each of the allegations-contained
in Counts 1 through 47 of this Indictment for the purpose of
alleging forfeiture to the United States of America pursuant to
the provisions of Title 18, United States Code, § 982. Pursuant
to Rule 32.2, Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, notice is
hereby given to the defendants that the United States will seek
forfeiture as part of any sentence, in accordance with Title 18,
United States Code, § 982, in the event of any defendant’s
conviction under Counts 3 through 14 and 25 through 30 of this
Indictment.

129. As a result of the offenses alleged in Counts 3

through 14 and 25 through 30 of this Indictment, the defendants
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MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. shall forxrfeit to
the United States all property, real and personal, involved in
the aforestated offenses, and all property traceable to such
property, including but not limited to:

a. Any property constituting or derived from any proceeds
which the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A.
CIAVARELLA, JR. obtained, directly or indirectly, from
wire fraud, mail fraud and money laundering violations;

b. Any property of the defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and
MARK A. CIAVARELLA, JR. used and intended to be used,
in any manner or part, to commit, or to facilitate the
commission of money laundering violations;

c. United States currency in the amount of $2,819,500 and
all interest and proceeds traceable thereto, in that
such sum in the aggregate is property which was
involved in the aforestated offenses or is traceable to
such property, in violation of Title 18, United States
Code, §§ 1341, 1343, and 1956.

ORFETI OF S TUTE ASSETS
130. If any-of the -property described in this Count of the
Indictment, as being subject to forfeiture, as a result of any
action or omission of the defendants,
a. Cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

b. Has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with a
third person;

c. Has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;
d. Has been substantially diminished in value; or
e. Has been commingled with other property which cannot be

subdivided without difficulty;
It is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 18,
United States Code, Sections 982 and 1963, and Title 21, United
States Code, § 853(p), as incorporated by Title 18, United States

Code,‘s 982 (b) (1) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c), to seek the forfeiture
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of any substitute property up to the value of the above
forfeitable property.

The defendants MICHAEL T. CONAHAN and MARK A. CIAVARELLA,
JR. are jointly and severally liable for the forfeiture

allegations contained above.

All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, §§ 982 and
1963; Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461 (c); and, Rule

32.2, Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure.

QNN

DENNIS C. ENSCHMIDT
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) NO. 3:CR-09-242
)
\2 )

) (JUDGE KOSIK)
MICHAEL T. CONAHAN, )
)

) (ELECTRONICALLY FILED)
Defendant. )
PLEA

NOW, this __ /-3 _day of July, 2010, the above-named Defendant withdraws

his plea of not guilty and pleads guilty to Count Two of the Indictment.

MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
DEFENDANT

FILED
SCRANTON

JUL 2 3 201
PR s
Q’.-ﬁﬁp‘..’ Y

Certified {rom the record

Date o oll
xaw E. .@; rea, Clerk
Per
Deputy Clerk

BOARD'S
EXHIBIT
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AO 2458 (Rev. 09/08) Judgmeni 1n a Criminal Case

Sheel |
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA g JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE
v. )
MICHAEL T. CONAHAN ; Case Number: 3:CR09-272-01
; USM Number: 15009-067
) Philip Gelso and Arthur T. Donato, Jr.
Defendant's Attomey
THE DEFENDANT:
§fpleaded guilty to count(s)  Two (2) of an Indictment
[J pleaded nolo contendere to count(s)
which was accepted by the court.
[J was found guilty on count(s) L
after a plea of not guilty.
The defendant is adjudicated guilty of these offenses:
Title & Section Nature of Offense Offense Ended Count
18 USC 1962(d) Gonsplracy Rufating to Racketeer Influence and Corrupt §6/2000 z
Organizations
The defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 7 of this judgment. The sentence is imposed pursuant to

the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984.
[ The defendant has been found not guilty on count(s)
[7 Count(s) 1, & 3 thru 48 of the indictment O is d are dismissed on the motion of the United States.

It is ordered that the defendant must notify the United States attorney for this district within 30 days of any change of name, residence,
or mailing address until all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessments imposed by this judgrent are fully paid. If ordered to pay restitution,
the defendant must notify the court and United States attorney of material changes in economic circumstances.

9/23/2011
Date of Imposition of Judgment

Ao

Edwin M. Kosik U.S8. District Judge
Name of Judge Title of Judge

2]/ 23 /1.
¢ /

Signalure of Judge

Dale

Certified from the record

Date 1 o? 1ol
BOARD'S . D’Andrea, Clerk

EXHIBIT Per
Deputy Clerk
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AO245B  (Rev 09/08) Judgment in Criminal Case
Sheet 2 -~ Imprisonment

Judgment — Page 2 of 7

DEFENDANT: MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
CASE NUMBER: 3:CR09-272-01

IMPRISONMENT

The defendant is hereby committed to the custody of the United States Bureau of Prisons to be imprisoned for a
total term of:

two hundred ten (210) months.

w The court makes the foilowing recommendations to the Bureau of Prisons:
The court recommends that the Bureau of Prisons designate the Federal Prison Camp in Pensacola, Florida, or an altemative
facility proximal to Delray Beach, Florida, as the place for service of this sentence. Court further recommends that defendant
be afforded the opportunity to participate in the 500-hour Residential Drug and Alcohol Program if he qualifies for the program
w The defendant is remanded to the custody of the United States Marshal.

(3 The defendant shall surrender to the Unitcd States Marshal for this district:

0 a 0 am. O pm on

[J as notified by the United States Marshal.

{3 The defendant shall surrender for service of sentence at the institution designated by the Bureau of Prisons:

O before 2 p.m. on

[J as notified by the United States Marshal.
3 as notified by the Probation or Pretriai Services Office.
a

the defendant is to contact the United States Marshal’s Office no later than three days prior to the abave date to be notified of the place of confinement.

RETURN
[ have executed this judgment as foliows:
Defendant delivered on to
at , with a certified copy of this judgment.
UNITED STATES MARSHAL
By

DEPUTY UNITED STATES MARSHAL
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AQ 2458 {(Rev. 09/08) Judgment in a Criminal Case
Sheet 2A — Imprisonment

Judgment—Page 3 of 7

DEFENDANT: MICHAEL 7. CONAHAN
CASE NUMBER: 3:CR09-272-01

ADDITIONAL IMPRISONMENT TERMS

During the term of imprisonment, the restitution and fine are payable every three months in an amount, after a telephone
allowance, equal to 50 percent of the funds deposited into the defendant’s inmate trust fund account.
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AQ245B  (Rev 09/08) Judgment in a Criminal Case
Sheet 3 — Supervised Release

4 of 7

DEFENDANT: MICHAEL T. CONAHAN Judgment—Page
CASE NUMBER: 3:CR09-272-01
SUPERVISED RELEASE

Upon release from imprisonment, the defendant shall be on supervised release for a term of :
three (3) years.

The defendant must report to the probation office in the district to which the defendant is released within 72 hours of release from the
custody of the Bureau of Prisons.

The defendant shall not commit another federal, state or local crime.

The defendant shall not unlawfully possess a controlled substance. The defendant shal] refrain from any unlawful use of a controlled
substance. The defendant shall submit to one drug test within 15 days of release from imprisonment and at least two periodic drug tests
thereafler, as determined by the court.

{0 The above drug testing condition is suspended, based on the court’s determination that the defendant poses a low risk of
future substance abuse. (Check, if applicable.)

The defendant shall not possess a firearm, ammunition, destructive device, or any other dangerous weapon. (Check, if applicable.)

The defendant shall cooperate in the collection of DNA as directed by the probation officer. (Chect, if applicable.)

The defendant shall comply with the requirements of the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (42 U.S.C. § 16901, e seq.)
as directed by the probation officer. the Bureau of Prisons, or any state sex offender registration agency in which he or she resides,
works, is a student, or was convicted of a qualifying offense. (Check. if applicabie.)

0 &

{1 The defendant shall participate in an approved program for domestic violence. (Check. ifapplicable.)

If this judgment imposes a fine or restitution, it is a condition of supervised release that the defendant pay in accordance with the
Schedule of Payments sheet of this judgment.

The defendant must comply with the standard conditions that have been adopted by this court as well as with any additional conditions
on the attached page.

STANDARD CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION

1) the defendant shall not leave the judicial district without the permission of the court or probation officer;

2) the lc‘:k:femzhant shall report to the probation officer and shall submit a truthful and complete written report within the first five days of
each month;

3) the defendant shall answer truthfully all inquiries by the probation officer and follow the instructions of the probation officer;
4) the defendant shall support his or her dependents and meet other family responsibilities;

5) the defendant shall work regularly at a lawful occupation, unless excused by the probation officer for schooling, training, or other
acceptable reasons;

6) the defendant shall notify the probation officer at least ten days prior to any change in residence or employment;

7)  the defendant shall refrain from excessive use of alcohol and shall not purchase, possess, use, distribute, or administer any
controlled substance or any paraphernalia related to any controlled substances, except as prescribed by a physician;

8) the defendant shall not frequent places where controlled substances are illegally sold, used, distributed, or administered;

9) the defendant shall not associate with any persons engaged in criminal activity and shall not associate with any person convicted of a
felony, unless granted permission to do so by the probation officer;

10) the defcndant shall permit a probation officer to visit himor her at any time at home or elsewhere and shall permit confiscation of any
contraband observed in plain view of the probation officer;

11) the defendant shall notify the probation officer within seventy-two hours of being arrested or questioned by a law enforcement officer;
12) the defendant shall not enter into any agreement to act as an informer or a special agent of a law enforcement agency without the
permission of the court; and

13) as directed by the probation officer, the defendant shall notify third parties of risks that may be occasioned by the defendant’s criminal
record or personal history or characteristics and shall permit the probation officer to make such notifications and to confirm the
defendant’s compliance with such notification requirement.

14) the defendant shall notify the Court of any material change in the defendant’s economic circumstances that might affect the defendant’s
ability to pay restitution, fines, or special assessments.
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AD 245B (Rev. 09/08) Judgment in a Criminal Case
Sheet JA — Supervised Release
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DEFENDANT: MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
CASE NUMBER: 3:CR09-272-01

ADDITIONAL SUPERVISED RELEASE TERMS

In the event the restitution and fine are not paid In full prior to the commencement of supervised release, the defendant
shall, as a condition of supervised release, satisfy the amount due in monthly installments of no less than $1,000, to
commence thirty (30) days after release from confinement.

1) The defendant shall submit to one drug test within 15 days of commencing supervision and at least two periodic drug
tests thereafter for use of a controlled substance;

2) The defendant shall cooperate in the collection of a DNA sample as directed by the probation officer, unless a sample
was collected during imprisonment;

3) The defendant shal! not incur new credit charges or open additiona! lines of credit without the approval of the probation
officer unless the defendant is in compliance with the instaliment schedule for payment of restitution, fines, or special

assessment;
4) The defendant shall provide the probation officer with access to any requested financial information;

5) The defendant shall apply all monies received from income tax refunds, lottery winnings, judgments, and/or other
anticipated or unexpected financial gains to the outstanding court-ordered financial obligation;

6) The defendant agreed to interpose no objection to the United States transferring evidence or providing information
conceming the defendant and/or this offense, to other state and federal agencies or other organizations, including, but not
limited to the Intema! Revenue Service, law enforcement agencies and licensing and regulatory agencies;

7) The defendant wiil make no objection to the entry of an order under Fed. R. Crim. P. 6(e) authorizing transfer to the IRS
Examination and Collection Divisions of the defendant’s documents or documents of third persons in possession of the
Grand Jury, the United States Attorney, or the Criminal Investigation Division of the Intemal Revenue Service;

8) The defendant agreed to fully comply and cooperate with the Internal Revenue Service by using his best efforts to file
all delinquent or amended tax returns and to pay taxes, interest, and penalties due and owing by the date of the
defendant’s sentencing and to timely file all future returns which may come during the term of incarceration, probation, or
supervised release;

9) The defendant also agreed to cooperate with the Internal Revenue Service by furnishing the Intemal Revenue Service
with all information pertaining to the defendant's assets and liabiiities, as well as all documentation in support of tax
retums filed by the defendant during the term of any sentence imposed pursuant to this guilty plea;

10) The defendant further agreed to pay all taxes, interests, and penatties due and owing to the United States and
otherwise fully comply with the tax laws of the United States. In the event the defendant is unabie to pay the total tax,
interest, and penalties due by the date of sentencling, the defendant agreed to negotiate in good faith with the IRS

to establish a payment schedule or to achieve a negotiated settlement;

11) The defendant will surrender his license to practice law within ten days of acceptance of the plea agreement by the
Court, and to submit to disbarment upon consent. Further, any status of any professional license he holds is not protected
and is a matter solely within the discretion of the appropriate licensing authority. The United States may provide to any
such licensing authority any documents and information in its possession; and

12) The defendant shall neither seek nor accept any pubtic or elective office or position of public trust.
The sentence imposed satisfies the purposes set forth in 18 U SC Section 3553(a).
) must advise you of your right to appeal your sentence to the U.S. Court of Appeals. If you are unabie to pay the cost of an

appeal, then you may apply for leave to appeal in forma pauperis, and if approved, counsei will be appointed for you and
you will not be required to pay any costs. With few exceptions, any notice of appeal must be filed within fourteen (14) days

after sentence is imposed on you.
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AO245B  (Rev. 09/08) Judgment in a Criminal Case
Sheet 5 — Criminal Monetary Penalties
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DEFENDANT: MICHAEL T. CONAHAN vlemem T RS LT O e 2
CASE NUMBER: 3:CR09-272-01
CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES
The defendant must pay the total criminal monetary penalties under the schedule of payments on Sheet 6.

Assessment Fine Restltution
TOTALS $ 100.00 $ 20,000.00 $ 874,167.37
[J The determination of restitution is deferred until . An Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case (40 245C) will be entered

atter such determination.
[1 The defendant must make restitution (including community restitution) to the following payees in the amount listed below.

If the defendant makes a partial payment, each pa%ee shall receive an approximatelyUpro rtioned payment, unless specified otherwise in
the priority order or percentage payment column below. However, pursuant to 18°U.S.C. § 3664()), all nonfederal victims must be paid
before the United States is paid.

Name of Payee Total Loss* Restlt Ordered Priority or Percentage
Comitionwasith-of Pepnsyivaria ' 2 RS 2 P @ﬁ&‘fﬁﬁ‘b L T
iE '«"_‘*- = ki
TOTALS $ 0.00 $ 874,167.37

[0 Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement $

[] The defendant must pay interest on restitution and a fine of more than $2,500, unless the restitution or fine is paid in full before the
fifteenth day after the date of the judgment, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(f). All of the payment options on Sheet 6 may be subject
to penalties for delinquency and default, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(g).

d The court determined that the defendant does not have the ability to pay interest and itis ordered that:
# the interest requirement is waived for the d fine Rf restitution.

[J theinterest requirement for the [0 fine [J restitution is modified as follows:

* Findings for the total anpunt of losses are reguired under Chapters 109A, 110, 110A, and 113A of Title 18 for offenses committed on or after
September 13, 1994, but before April 23, 1996.
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AOC245B  (Rev. 09/08) Judgment in a Criminal Case
Sheet 6 — Schedule of Payments
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DEFENDANT: MICHAEL T. CONAHAN
CASE NUMBER: 3:CR09-272-01

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS

Having assessed the defendant’s ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary penalties is due as follows:

A [0 Lumpsum paymentof$ due immediately, balance due

[0 notlater than ,or
O inaccordance ogc¢ Ob O E,or [J F below; or

B [J Paymentto begin immediately (may be combined with [ C, O D,or [JF below); or
C [J Paymentin equal (e.g.. weekly. monthly, quarterly) installments of § over a period of
- (e.g.. months or years), to commence __(e.g.. 30 or 60 days) after the date of this judgment; or
D [J Paymentinequal (e.g.. weekly, monthly. quarterly) installments of § over a period of
(e.g.. months or years), 1o commence (e.g.. 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisonment to a

term of supervision; or

E [J Paymentduring the term of supervised release will commence within (e.g.. 30 or 60 days) after release from
imprisonment. The court will set the payment plan based on an ussessment of the defendant’s ability to pay at that time; or

F d Special instructions regarding the payment of criminal monetary penalties:

The Court finds defendant has ability to pay a fine. Ordered that defendant shall pay to Clerk, U.S. District Court,
the sum of $20,100 consisting of a special assessment of $100, due immediately, & a fine of $20,000. Payment of
interest is waived. Further ordered that defendant shall make restitution in amount of $874,167.37 payable to
Clerk, U.S. District Court, for disbursement to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. A lump sum payment of
$200,000 shall be made within 30 days of entry of this Judgment. Payment of interest is waived.

Unless the court has expressly ordered otherwise, if this judgment imposes imprisonment, payment of criminal moneta penalties is due during
imprisonment. All criminal monetary penaltjes, except those payments made through the Federal Bureau of Prisons’ Inmate Financial
Responsibility Program, are made to the clerk of the court.

The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties imposed.

(0 Joint and Several

Defendant and Co-Defendant Names and Case Numbers (including defendant number), Total Amount, Joint and Several Amount,
and corresponding payee, if appropriate.

[0 The defendant shall pay the cost of prosecution.

‘The defendant shall pay the following court cost(s):

a

{J The defendant shall forfeit the defendant’s interest in the following property to the United States:

Payments shall be applied in the following order: (l? assessment, (2) restitution principal, (3) restitution interest, (4) fine principal,
(3) fine interest, (6) community restitution, (7) penalties, and (8) costs, including cost of prosecution and court costs.
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United States District Court
Middle District of Pennsylvania (Scranton)
CRIMINAL DOCKET FOR CASE #: 3:09-cr-00272-EMK-1

Internal Use Only

Case title: USA v. Conahan et al

Assigned to: Honorable Edwin M.
Kosik

Defendant (1)

Date Filed: 09/09/2009
Date Terminated: 09/23/2011

Michael T. Conahan represented by Arthur T. Donato , Jr.

TERMINATED: 09/23/2011

Certified from the record

pae Qe atdoll

Mary E. D'Ardrea, Clerk

Per Deputy Clerk
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(7-10)
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UNITED STATES
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Law offices of Arthur T. Donato, Jr.
216 West Front Street

2nd Floor

Media, PA 19063

610-565-4747

Email: adonato@verizon.net

LEAD ATTORNEY

ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED

Philip Gelso

Briechle & Gelso, LLC

63 Pierce Street

Kingston, PA 18704

570-763-0006

Fax: 570-288-0243

Email: philip.gelso@briechle-gelso.com

LEAD ATTORNEY
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED
Designation: Retained

Dispesition

210 mos. imprisonment; 3 yrs
supervised release; $100 special
assessment; $20,000 find; $874,167.37
restitution

dismissed

dismissed
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Highest Offense Level (Opening)
Felony

Terminated Counts

RACKETEERING
(M

HONEST SERVICES WIRE FRAUD
(3-6)

CORRUPT RECEIPT OF
BRIBE/REWARD FOR OFFICIAL
ACTION CONCERNING
PROGRAMS RECEIVING FEDERAL

FUNDS
(15-24)

MONEY LAUNDERING
CONSPIRACY
(25)

MONEY LAUNDERING
(26-30)

EXTORTION UNDER COLOR OF
OFFICIAL RIGHT

(31-38)

SUBSCRIBING AND FILING A
MATERIALLY FALSE TAX

RETURN
(40-43)

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE
(48)

Highest Offense Level (Terminated)
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Disposition

dismissed

dismissed

dismissed

dismissed

dismissed

dismissed

dismissed

dissmissed

Felony

Complaints Disposition

None

Plaintiff

USA represented by Gordon A. Zubrod

U.S. Attorney's Office

228 Walnut St.

Harrisburg, PA 17108
717-221-4482

Email: Gordon.Zubrod@usdoj.gov
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LEAD ATTORNEY
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED

William Spencer Houser

United States Attorney's Office
U.S. Courthouse

P.O. Box 309

235 N. Washington Avenue
Scranton, PA 18501
570-348-2800

Email: william houser@usdoj.gov
LEAD ATTORNEY

ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED

Amy Phillips

U.S. Attorney's Office - Criminal
Division

235 N. Washington Avenue
Scranton, PA 18501
570-348-2800

Fax: 570-348-2830

Email: amy.phillips@usdoj.gov
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED

Michael A. Consiglio

U.S. Attorney's Office

Federal Building

Suite 220

228 Walnut St.

Harrisburg, PA 17108-1754
717-221-4482

Email: michael.consiglio@usdoj.gov
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED

Date Filed

Docket Text

09/09/2009

=

INDICTMENT as to Michael T. Conahan (1) count(s) 1, 2, 3-6, 7-10,
15-24, 25, 26-30, 31-38, 39, 40-43, 48, Mark A. Ciavarella, Jr (2)
count(s) 1, 2, 3-6, 11-14, 15-24, 25, 26-30, 31-38, 39, 44-47, 48. (cl, )
(Additional attachment(s) added on 9/15/2009: # 1 main document)
(pm, ). (Entered: 09/10/2009)

09/09/2009

Sealed Document (cl, ) (Entered: 09/10/2009)

09/09/2009

Criminal Cover Sheet (Access Restricted to Court Users) -. (cl, )
(Entered: 09/10/2009)

09/10/2009

NOTICE OF IN COURT HEARING as to Michael T. Conahan, Mark
A. Ciavarella, Jr. Initial Appearances and Arraignments are scheduled
for 9/15/2009 at 10:00 AM in Scranton before Magistrate Judge
Thomas M. Blewitt. (jb, ) (Entered: 09/10/2009)
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09/15/2009

NO

APPEARANCE OF COUNSEL - of Atty Philip Gelso for deft
Michael Conahan. (jb, ) (Entered: 09/15/2009)

09/15/2009

(Copy) of Agreement to Forfeit Property -filed by dft Michael
Conahan ( original filed in other case 09-cr-28)( Deed(s) held in vault)
(cl, ) (Entered: 09/15/2009)

09/15/2009

14

(Court only) Minute Entry for Initial appearance and arraignments as
to both defts held before Magistrate Judge Thomas M. Blewitt on
9/15/09; Court calls case. Govt explains indictment. Court advises
defts of their rights including cn. Atty Gelso enters his appearance for
Conahan and Attys Flora and Ruzzo enter their appearance for
Ciavarella. Govt states penalties. Attys and their clients state they
understand indictment and penalties and waive reading of the same.
Both defts plea NOT GUILTY to indictment. Court states this case is
assigned to Judge Kosik and the parties have 20 days to file motions.
Bail: Govt is in agreement as to the release of defts and states
conditions that they would require. Attys Gelso and Ruzzo speak on
behalf of their clients. Court states conditions, defts and their attys
agree. Court releases both defts. (Court Reporter Suzanne Halko.)
Total Time in Court [:30] (jb, ) (Entered: 09/15/2009)

09/15/2009

NOT GUILTY PLEA ENTERED to indictment as to Michael T.
Conahan. (jb, ) (Entered: 09/15/2009)

09/15/2009

ORDER Setting Conditions of Release as to Michael T. Conahan.
Signed by Magistrate Judge Thomas M. Blewitt on 9/15/09. (jb, )
(Entered: 09/15/2009)

09/15/2009

APPEARANCE BOND - as to Michael T. Conahan. Signed by
Magistrate Judge Thomas M. Blewitt on 9/15/09. (jb, ) (Entered:
09/15/2009)

09/16/2009

COURT REPORTER NOTES re Michael T. Conahan, Mark A.
Ciavarella, Jr filed by Suzanne Halko of arraignment before Judge
Thomas Blewitt on 9/15/2009. In accordance with 28 U.S.C. Section
753(b), I certify that these original notes are a true and correct record
of proceedings in the United States District Court for the Middle
District of PA before Judge Thomas Blewitt on 9/15/2009. By s/
Suzanne Halko. (Court Reporter Notes are viewable by court staff
only). (crl, ) (Entered: 09/16/2009)

09/17/2009

ARREST Warrant Returned Executed on 9/15/09. in case as to
Michael T. Conahan. (cl, ) (Entered: 09/17/2009)

09/30/2009

Unopposed MOTION for Extension of Time to File Pretrial Motions
by Michael T. Conahan as to Michael T. Conahan, Mark A.
Ciavarella, Jr. (Attachments: # 1 Proposed Order)(Gelso, Philip)
(Entered: 09/30/2009)

10/01/2009

ORDER as to Michael T. Conahan, Mark A. Ciavarella, Jr - (1)
unopposed motion of defts for extension of time to file pretrial
motions is granted (2) all pretrial motions shall be filed by defendants
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by 12/7/09.. Signed by Honorable Edwin M. Kosik on 10/1/09. (th, )
(Entered: 10/01/2009)

10/01/2009

26

MEMORANDUM - dated 10/1/09 to counsel from Judge Kosik
suggesting a conference of counsel. (th, ) (Entered: 10/01/2009)

10/02/2009

27

SCHEDULING ORDER as to Michael T. Conahan, Mark A.
Ciavarella, Jr Status Conference set for 10/7/2009 @ 1:30 PM in
Scranton before Honorable Edwin M. Kosik.. Signed by Honorable
Edwin M. Kosik on 10/2/09. (th, ) (Entered: 10/02/2009)

10/07/2009

NOTICE of Entry of Appearace of Arthur T. Donato, Jr. by Michael
T. Conahan (Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 10/07/2009)

10/08/2009

ORDER Modifying Conditions of Release as to Michael T. Conahan
(1) modified to reflect that Deft. Conahan may travel to the Eastern
District of Pennsylvania to confer w/ Defense Counsel Arthur T.
Donato, Jr. w/out authorization from the U.S. Probation Office; All
other conditions of release imposed on September 15, 2009 shall
remain in effect;. Signed by Honorable Edwin M. Kosik on 10/08/09.
(ep, ) (Entered: 10/08/2009)

10/15/2009

DOCKET ANNOTATION: SPECIAL ADMISSION FORM AND
ECF REGISTRATION FORM sent to Atty. Donato. (am, ) (Entered:
10/15/2009)

11/20/2009

30

Unopposed MOTION for Extension of Time to File Pretrial Motions
by Michael T. Conahan as to Michael T. Conahan, Mark A.
Ciavarella, Jr. (Attachments: # 1 Proposed Order)(Gelso, Philip)
(Entered: 11/20/2009)

11/20/2009

31

ORDER as to Michael T. Conahan, Mark A. Ciavarella, Jr -
unopposed motion of defts for extension of time to file pretrial
motions is granted; all pretrial motions shall be filed by defts on or
before 1/29/2010.. Signed by Honorable Edwin M. Kosik on 11/20/09.
(th, ) (Entered: 11/20/2009)

01/19/2010

Unopposed MOTION for Extension of Time to File Pretrial Motions
by Michael T. Conahan as to Michael T. Conahan, Mark A.
Ciavarella, Jr. (Attachments: # 1 Proposed Order)(Gelso, Philip)
(Entered: 01/19/2010)

01/19/2010

ORDER as to Michael T. Conahan, Mark A. Ciavarella, Jr -
unopposed motion of defts for extension of time to file pretrial
motions is granted; all pretrial motions shall be filed by defts Conahan
& Ciavarella on or before 3/1/10. Last extension. Signed by Honorable
Edwin M. Kosik on 1/19/10. (th, ) (Entered: 01/19/2010)

03/01/2010

34

MOTION to Compel Government to Provide Defendant with Written
Notice/Evidence of Uncharged Misconduct Evidence Pursuant to FRE
404(b) and 609 by Michael T. Conahan as to Michael T. Conahan,
Mark A. Ciavarella, Jr. (Attachments: # 1 Proposed Order)(Gelso,
Philip) (Entered: 03/01/2010)
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03/01/2010

35

Page 6 of 14

MOTION for Disclosure Pursuant to FRE 807 by Michael T. Conahan
as to Michael T. Conahan, Mark A. Ciavarella, Jr. (Attachments: # 1
Proposed Order)(Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

MOTION for Bill of Particulars by Michael T. Conahan as to Michael
T. Conahan, Mark A. Ciavarella, Jr. (Attachments: # 1 Proposed
Order)(Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

MOTION for Release of Brady Materials and Evidence/Materials
Impeaching or Bearing upon the Credibility of Government Witness
by Michael T. Conahan as to Michael T. Conahan, Mark A.
Ciavarella, Jr. (Attachments: # 1 Proposed Order)(Gelso, Philip)
(Entered: 03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

MOTION for Discovery and Inspection by Michael T. Conahan as to
Michael T. Conahan, Mark A. Ciavarella, Jr. (Attachments: # 1
Proposed Order)(Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

MOTION to Dismiss Count(s) 15 through 24 of the Indictment by
Michael T. Conahan. (Attachments: # 1 Proposed Order)(Gelso,
Philip) (Entered: 03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

MOTION to Dismiss Predicate Acts 1, 2, 3, and Counts 3 through 10
by Michael T. Conahan. (Attachments: # 1 Proposed Order)(Gelso,
Philip) (Entered: 03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

49

MOTION to Dismiss the Indictment for Outrageous Government
Misconduct by Michael T. Conahan. (Attachments: # 1 Proposed
Order)(Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

MOTION to Dismiss Count(s) / and 2 of the Indictment by Michael
T. Conahan. (Attachments: # 1 Proposed Order)(Gelso, Philip)
(Entered: 03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

MOTION to Dismiss Count(s) 3, 7, 15, 16, 17, 31, 32 and 33 by
Michael T. Conahan. (Attachments: # 1 Proposed Order)(Gelso,
Philip) (Entered: 03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

57

MOTION for Early Disclosure of Statements pursuant to Jencks Act,
18 USC 3500 and FRE 26.2 by Michael T. Conahan. (Attachments: #
1 Proposed Order)(Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

MOTION to Inspect Grand Jury Minutes and/or be Provided with
Certain Related Documents by Michael T. Conahan. (Attachments: #
1 Proposed Order)(Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

MOTION for Pretrial Conference by Michael T. Conahan.
(Attachments: # 1 Proposed Order)(Gelso, Philip) (Entered:
03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

MOTION for District Court to Utilize a Jury Questionnaire during
Voir Dire by Michael T. Conahan. (Attachments: # 1 Proposed Order)
(Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/01/2010)
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03/01/2010

66

Page 7 of 14

MOTION to Preserve and Produce Notes, Reports and Evidence by
Michael T. Conahan. (Attachments: # 1 Proposed Order)(Gelso,
Philip) (Entered: 03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

REQUEST for Notice, Pursuant to F.R.Cr.P. 12(b)(4)(B) of
Government's Intention to Use Evidence (Gelso, Philip) (Entered:
03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

MOTION for Hearing on the Authenticity and Audibility of Audio
Recordings, Accuracy of Transcripts and the Deletion of Impertinent
and Prejudicial Material by Michael T. Conahan. (Attachments: # 1
Proposed Order)(Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

MOTION to File Additional and/or Supplemental Pre-Trial Motions
by Michael T. Conahan. (Attachments: # 1 Proposed Order)(Gelso,
Philip) (Entered: 03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

MOTION to Suppress Evidence Obtained from Recorded
Conversations of the Defendant and Any FruitsThereof by Michael T.
Conahan. (Attachments: # 1 Proposed Order)(Gelso, Philip) (Entered:
03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

MOTION to Produce and Preserve Tapes of Law Enforcement
Interviews by Michael T. Conahan. (Attachments: # 1 Proposed
Order)(Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

MOTION to Change Venue by Michael T. Conahan. (Attachments: #
1 Proposed Order)(Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/01/2010)

03/01/2010

MOTION for Individual Voir Dire and Additional Peremptory
Challenges by Michael T. Conahan. (Attachments: # 1 Proposed
Order)(Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/01/2010)

03/15/2010

BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 3¢ MOTION to
Compel Government to Provide Defendant with Written
Notice/Evidence of Uncharged Misconduct Evidence Pursuant to FRE
404(b) and 609 MOTION to Compel Government to Provide
Defendant with Written Notice/Evidence of Uncharged Misconduct
Evidence Pursuant to FRE 404(b) and 609 Brief in Opposition due by
4/1/2010 (Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010

BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 35 MOTION for
Disclosure Pursuant to FRE 807 Brief in Opposition due by 4/1/2010
(Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010

BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 36 MOTION for Bill
of Particulars Brief in Opposition due by 4/1/2010 (Gelso, Philip)
(Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010

BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 38 MOTION for
Release of Brady Materials and Evidence/Materials Impeaching or
Bearing upon the Credibility of Government Witness Brief in
Opposition due by 4/1/2010 (Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/15/2010)
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03/15/2010

83

Page 8 of 14

BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 41 MOTION for
Discovery and Inspection Brief in Opposition due by 4/1/2010 (Gelso,
Philip) (Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010

84

BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 45 MOTION to
Dismiss Count(s) 15 through 24 of the Indictment Brief in Opposition
due by 4/1/2010 (Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010

BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 47 MOTION to
Dismiss Predicate Acts 1, 2, 3, and Counts 3 through 10 Brief in
Opposition due by 4/1/2010 (Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010

87

BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 49 MOTION to
Dismiss the Indictment for Outrageous Government Misconduct Brief
in Opposition due by 4/1/2010 (Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010

88

BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 51 MOTION to
Dismiss Count(s) / and 2 of the Indictment Brief in Opposition due by
4/1/2010 (Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010

89

BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 54 MOTION to
Dismiss Count(s) 3, 7, 15, 16, 17, 31, 32 and 33 Brief in Opposition
due by 4/1/2010 (Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010

90

BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 57 MOTION for
Early Disclosure of Statements pursuant to Jencks Act, 18 USC 3500
and FRE 26.2 Brief in Opposition due by 4/1/2010 (Gelso, Philip)
(Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010

91

BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 59 MOTION to
Inspect Grand Jury Minutes and/or be Provided with Certain Related
Documents Brief in Opposition due by 4/1/2010 (Gelso, Philip)
(Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010

92

BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 62 MOTION for
Pretrial Conference Brief in Opposition due by 4/1/2010 (Gelso,
Philip) (Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010

BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 64 MOTION for
District Court to Utilize a Jury Questionnaire during Voir Dire Brief in
Opposition due by 4/1/2010 (Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010

BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 66 MOTION to
Preserve and Produce Notes, Reports and Evidence Brief in
Opposition due by 4/1/2010 (Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010

BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 69 MOTION for
Disclosure under F. R. Crim. P. 12(b)(4)(B) of governments intent to
use evidence (Docket Entry 69) Brief in Opposition due by 4/1/2010
(Gelso, Philip) Modified on 3/16/2010 (admin, ). (Entered:
03/15/2010)

03/15/2010
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BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 71 MOTION for
Hearing on the Authenticity and Audibility of Audio Recordings,
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Accuracy of Transcripts and the Deletion of Impertinent and
Prejudicial Material Brief in Opposition due by 4/1/2010 (Gelso,
Philip) (Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010 97 | BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 72 MOTION to File
Additional and/or Supplemental Pre-Trial Motions Brief in Opposition
due by 4/1/2010 (Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010 98 | BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 73 MOTION to
Suppress Evidence Obtained from Recorded Conversations of the
Defendant and Any FruitsThereof Brief in Opposition due by 4/1/2010
(Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010 99 | BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 74 MOTION to
Produce and Preserve Tapes of Law Enforcement Interviews Brief in
Opposition due by 4/1/2010 (Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010 100 | BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 75 MOTION to
Change Venue Brief in Opposition due by 4/1/2010 (Gelso, Philip)
(Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010 101 | BRIEF IN SUPPORT by Michael T. Conahan re 76 MOTION for
Individual Voir Dire and Additional Peremptory Challenges Brief in
Opposition due by 4/1/2010 (Gelso, Philip) (Entered: 03/15/2010)

03/15/2010 Set/Reset Deadlines in case as to Michael T. Conahan 69 MOTION
for Disclosure. Brief in Opposition due by 4/1/2010 (admin, )
(Entered: 03/16/2010)

03/16/2010 104 | MOTION for Extension of Time to File Response/Reply as to 102
Brief in Support, 88 Brief in Support, 98 Brief in Support, 82 Brief in
Support, 83 Brief in Support, 100 Brief in Support, 93 Brief in
Support, 97 Brief in Support, 94 Brief in Support, 90 Brief in Support,
103 Unopposed MOTION to join in briefs of co-defendant re 53
MOTION for Disclosure of Jencks material, 52 MOTION to Dismiss
based Indictment based upon government misconduct, 77 MOTION
for district court to use jury questionaire during vUnopposed
MOTION to join in briefs of co-defendant re 53 MOTION for
Disclosure of Jencks material, 52 MOTION to Dismiss based
Indictment based upon government misconduct, 77 MOTION for
district court to use jury questionaire during vlnopposed MOTION to
join in briefs of co-defendant re 53 MOTION for Disclosure of Jencks
material, 52 MOTION to Dismiss based Indictment based upon
government misconduct, 77 MOTION for district court to use jury
questionaire during vUnopposed MOTION to join in briefs of co-
defendant re 53 MOTION for Disclosure of Jencks material, 52
MOTION to Dismiss based Indictment based upon government
misconduct, 77 MOTION for district court to use jury questionaire
during vUnopposed MOTION to join in briefs of co-defendant re 53
MOTION for Disclosure of Jencks material, 52 MOTION to Dismiss
based Indictment based upon government misconduct, 77 MOTION
for district court to use jury questionaire during vUnopposed
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MOTION to join in briefs of co-defendant re 53 MOTION for
Disclosure of Jencks material, 52 MOTION to Dismiss based
Indictment based upon government misconduct, 77 MOTION for
district court to use jury questionaire during vUnopposed MOTION to
join in briefs of co-defendant re 53 MOTION for Disclosure of Jencks
material, 52 MOTION to Dismiss based Indictment based upon
government misconduct, 77 MOTION for district court to use jury
questionaire during v, 84 Brief in Support, 95 Brief in Support, 101
Brief in Support, 96 Brief in Support, 92 Brief in Support, 99 Brief in
Support, 85 Brief in Support, 79 Brief in Support, 91 Brief in Support,
81 Brief in Support, 87 Brief in Support, 80 Brief in Support, 86 Brief
in Support, 89 Brief in Support by USA as to Michael T. Conahan,
Mark A. Ciavarella, Jr. (Attachments: # 1 Proposed Order)(Zubrod,
Gordon) (Entered: 03/16/2010)

03/19/2010

105

ORDER -granting 104 Motion for Extension of Time to File
Response/Reply to BOTH defendants motions; United States briefs in
opposition are due on or before May 1, 2010.. Signed by Honorable
Edwin M. Kosik on 3/19/2010. (cl, ) (Entered: 03/19/2010)

04/29/2010

106

PLEA AGREEMENT as to Michael T. Conahan (cl, ) (Entered:
04/29/2010)

04/29/2010

(Court only) Attorney update in case as to Michael T. Conahan, Mark
A. Ciavarella, Jr. Attorney William Spencer Houser for USA added.
(cl, ) (Entered: 04/29/2010)

04/29/2010

107

MOTION to File Document Under Seal by USA (cl, ) (Entered:
04/29/2010)

04/29/2010

108

SEALED DOCUMENT(S) (Attachments: # 1 Proposed Document, #
2 Proposed Order) (cl, ) Modified on 4/30/2010 (cl, ). (Entered:
04/29/2010)

04/29/2010

109

MOTION for Extension of Time to File Response/Reply by USA as to
Michael T. Conahan, Mark A. Ciavarella, Jr. (Attachments: # 1
Proposed Order, # 2 Certificate of Concurrence)(Houser, William)
(Entered: 04/29/2010)

04/30/2010

| bt
| bt
()

SEALED ORDER (cl, ) (Entered: 04/30/2010)

05/03/2010

Do
Do
e

ORDER as to Michael T. Conahan, Mark A. Ciavarella, Jr - on or
before 5/11/10 the govt may file an over-length brief of approx. 150
pages in response to defts' pretrial motions.. Signed by Honorable
Edwin M. Kosik on 5/3/10. (th, ) (Entered: 05/03/2010)

05/03/2010

112

SCHEDULING ORDER as to Michael T. Conahan Change of Plea
Hearing set for 7/23/2010 11:00 AM in Scranton before Honorable
Edwin M. Kosik. See Order for specifics.. Signed by Honorable
Edwin M. Kosik on 5/3/10. (th, ) (Entered: 05/03/2010)

05/11/2010

(LY
W

BRIEF IN OPPOSITION by USA as toe Michael T. Conahan, Mark A.
Ciavarella, Jr re 59 MOTION to Inspect Grand Jury Minutes and/or be
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Provided with Certain Related Documents, 53 MOTION for
Disclosure of Jencks material, 41 MOTION for Discovery, 52
MOTION to Dismiss based Indictment based upon government
misconduct, 46 MOTION to Dismiss Count(s) Predicate Acts 1-3,
Counts 3-6, 11-14, 77 MOTION for district court to use jury
questionaire during voir dire, 38 MOTION for Release of Brady
Materials and Evidence/Materials Impeaching or Bearing upon the
Credibility of Government Witness, 63 MOTION to preserve notes
reports and evidence of government, 39 MOTION for Release of
Brady Materials, 45 MOTION to Dismiss Count(s) /5 through 24 of
the Indictment, 73 MOTION to Suppress Evidence Obtained from
Recorded Conversations of the Defendant and Any FruitsThereof, 37
MOTION for Bill of Particulars, 68 MOTION for pretrial conference,
47 MOTION to Dismiss Predicate Acts 1, 2, 3, and Counts 3 through
10,76 MOTION for Individual Voir Dire and Additional Peremptory
Challenges, 35 MOTION for Disclosure Pursuant to FRE 807, 40
MOTION to Change Venue, 49 MOTION to Dismiss the Indictment
Jor Outrageous Government Misconduct, 62 MOTION for Pretrial
Conference, 67 MOTION for Extension of Time to File supplemental
pretrial motions, 69 MOTION for Disclosure, 71 MOTION for
Hearing on the Authenticity and Audibility of Audio Recordings,
Accuracy of Transcripts and the Deletion of Impertinent and
Prejudicial Material, 51 MOTION to Dismiss Count(s) / and 2 of the
Indictment, 78 MOTION for individual jury voir dire and additional
pre-emptory challenges, 56 MOTION for Disclosure of Rule 404(B)
and 609 evidence, 4 MOTION to Dismiss Count(s) 15 through 24 of
Indictment, 34 MOTION to Compel Government to Provide
Defendant with Written Notice/Evidence of Uncharged Misconduct
Evidence Pursuant to FRE 404(b) and 609 MOTION to Compel
Government to Provide Defendant with Written Notice/Evidence of
Uncharged Misconduct Evidence Pursuant to FRE 404(b) and 609, 36
MOTION for Bill of Particulars, 60 MOTION to Produce and
preserve tapes of law enforcement interviews, 64 MOTION for
District Court to Utilize a Jury Questionnaire during Voir Dire, 74
MOTION to Produce and Preserve Tapes of Law Enforcement
Interviews, 66 MOTION to Preserve and Produce Notes, Reports and
Evidence, 65 MOTION hearing on authenticity and audibility of audio
recordings and accuracy of transcripts, 50 MOTION to Disqualify
Judge, 43 MOTION to Dismiss Count(s) / and 2 of Indictment, 57
MOTION for Early Disclosure of Statements pursuant to Jencks Act,
18 USC 3500 and FRE 26.2, 54 MOTION to Dismiss Count(s) 3, 7,
15, 16, 17, 31, 32 and 33, 70 MOTION for Disclosure under F. R.
Crim. P. 12(b)(4)(B) of governments intent to use evidence, 55
MOTION for Disclosure under F. R. Evid. 807, 48 MOTION to
Dismiss Count(s) 3, /1. 15-17, 26-29, 31-33, 44 of Indictment, 58
MOTION to Inspect grand jury minutes and related materials, 61
MOTION to Suppress evidence from recorded conversations, 75
MOTION to Change Venue, 42 MOTION for Discovery, 72
MOTION to File Additional and/or Supplemental Pre-Trial Motions
Reply Brief due by 5/28/2010. (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit(s)
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Attachment A)(Houser, William) (Entered: 05/11/2010)

07/06/2010

MEMORANDUM and ORDER -the crime fraud exception defeats the
defendant judges' claim of attorney client priviledge. For the forgoing
reasons, the motions ( docs 49, 52, 61 & 73) are DENIED.as to
Michael Conahan and Mark Ciaviarella. Signed by Honorable Edwin
M. Kosik on 7/6/2010. (cl, ) (Entered: 07/06/2010)

07/06/2010

MEMORANDUM and ORDER - based on the reasons for recusal
assigned by the defense, recusal would be inappropriate. The defensne
motion is denied.. Signed by Honorable Edwin M. Kosik on 7/6/10.
(cl, ) (Entered: 07/06/2010)

07/06/2010

117

ORDER -denying Motions for Change of Venue ( docs 40 & 75)
without prejudice as to Michael T. Conahan and Mark A. Ciavarella
Jr.. Signed by Honorable Edwin M. Kosik on 7/6/10. (cl, ) (Entered:
07/06/2010)

07/12/2010

ek
)
o0

|

SCHEDULING ORDER as to Michael T. Conahan, Mark A.
Ciavarella, Jr Criminal Pretrial Conference set for 7/30/2010 @ 9:00
AM in Scranton before Honorable Edwin M. Kosik.. Signed by
Honorable Edwin M. Kosik on 7/12/10. (th, ) (Entered: 07/12/2010)

07/23/2010

ek
ek
O

STATEMENT OF DEFENDANT RE: Plea of Guilty filed by USA as
to Michael T. Conahan (Houser, William) (Entered: 07/23/2010)

07/23/2010

P—
[\
[}

MOTION to Withdraw Plea of Not Guilty by Michael T. Conahan.
((kn, ). (Entered: 07/23/2010)

07/23/2010

121

ORDER granting 120 Motion to Withdraw Plea of Not Guilty as to
Michael T. Conahan (1); Signed by Honorable Edwin M. Kosik on
7/23/10. (kn, ) (Entered: 07/23/2010)

07/23/2010

GUILTY PLEA ENTERED as to counts Count 2 as to Michael T.
Conahan (kn, ) (Entered: 07/23/2010)

07/23/2010

—
N
(V8]

|

NOTICE OF FILING OF OFFICIAL TRANSCRIPT of Proceedings
as to Michael T. Conahan held on 7/23/10, before Judge Kosik. Court
Reporter/Transcriber L. Boyanowski, Telephone number 570-499-
0038. Transcript may be viewed at the court public terminal or
purchased through the Court Reporter/Transcriber before the deadline
for Release of Transcript Restriction. After that date it may be
obtained through PACER. Redaction Request due 8/13/2010.
Redacted Transcript Deadline set for 8/23/2010. Release of Transcript
Restriction set for 10/21/2010. (cr5, ) (Entered: 07/23/2010)

07/23/2010

P—
N
BN

|

COURT REPORTER NOTES re Michael T. Conahan filed by L.
Boyanowski of Change of Plea before Judge Kosik on 7/23/10. In
accordance with 28 U.S.C. Section 753(b), I certify that these original
notes are a true and correct record of proceedings in the United States
District Court for the Middle District of PA before Judge Kosik on
7/23/10. By s/ L. Boyanowski. (Court Reporter Notes are viewable by
court staff only). (cr5, ) (Entered: 07/23/2010)
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07/23/2010 125 | (Court only) Minute Entry for proceedings held before Honorable
Edwin M. Kosik:Change of Plea Hearing as to Michael T. Conahan
held on 7/23/2010 - deft pleads guilty - sentencing deferred pending
PSI. (Court Reporter Laura Boyanowski.)Total Time in Court [:40]
(th, ) (Entered: 07/26/2010)

09/03/2010 133 | NOTICE OF APPEARANCE Michael A. Consiglio appearing for
USA. (Consiglio, Michael) (Entered: 09/03/2010)

10/21/2010 (Court only) Terminate transcripts. (lh, ) (Entered: 10/21/2010)

01/20/2011 (Court only) Terminate transcripts. (lh, ) (Entered: 01/20/2011)

05/02/2011 250 | REPLY BRIEF by Mark A. Ciavarella, Jr as to Michael T. Conahan,
Mark A. Ciavarella, Jr re 244 MOTION for Extension of Time to File
Response/Reply as to 243 Brief in Support and requesting to file an
over-length Brief Reply Brief in Response to Government's Response
to Defendant's Post-Trial Motions (Ruzzo, William) (Entered:
05/02/2011)

05/11/2011 (Court only) Terminate transcripts. (lh, ) (Entered: 05/11/2011)

05/19/2011 (Court only) Terminate transcripts. (lh, ) (Entered: 05/19/2011)

05/23/2011 (Court only) Terminate transcripts. (lh, ) (Entered: 05/23/2011)

05/31/2011 (Court only) Terminate transcripts. (lh, ) (Entered: 05/31/2011)

08/23/2011 277 | SCHEDULING ORDER as to Michael T. Conahan Sentencing set for
9/23/2011 @ 9:30 AM in Scranton before Honorable Edwin M.
Kosik.. Signed by Honorable Edwin M. Kosik on 8/23/11. (th, )
(Entered: 08/23/2011)

09/19/2011 279 | Sealed Document (cl, ) (Entered: 09/19/2011)

09/19/2011 280 | Sealed Document (cl, ) (Entered: 09/19/2011)

09/19/2011 281 | Sealed Document (cl, ) (Entered: 09/19/2011)

09/19/2011 282 | SEALING ORDER (cl, ) (Entered: 09/19/2011)

09/20/2011 283 | LETTER from Times-Leader staff writer Terrie Morgan-Besecker to
Judge Kosik dated 9/19/11 requesting permission to review any letters
rec'd relating to Mr. Conahan's sentencing. (th, ) (Entered:
09/20/2011)

09/20/2011 284 | LETTER from Judge Kosik to Terrie Morgan-Besecker dated 9/20/11
- some letters will be made available after sentence. (th, ) (Entered:
09/20/2011)

09/21/2011 285 | LETTER from Atty J. Timothy Hinton, Jr. to Judge Kosik dated
9/20/11 re: as counsel for Scranton Times & Citizens' Voice he is
requesting access to letters regarding the defi. (th, ) (Entered:
09/21/2011)

09/21/2011 286 | LETTER from Judge Kosik to Atty Hinton dated 9/21/11 in response
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to request for access to letters - some will be available after sentence.
(th, ) (Entered: 09/21/2011)

09/22/2011

N
(-]
~

|

LETTER from Joe Holden of WBRE-TV to Judge Kosik datted
9/21/11 requesting disclosure of letters regarding defendant. (th, )
(Entered: 09/22/2011)

09/22/2011

N
(=
[*<]

|

LETTER from Judge Kosik to Joe Holden dated 9/22/11 re: letters
from 3rd parties will be made available for review. (th, ) (Entered:
09/22/2011)

09/22/2011

N
[=.-]
O

Sealed Document (Attachments: # 1 attachment) (kc, ) (Entered:
09/22/2011)

09/22/2011

N
NO
(=

Sealed Document (Attachments: # 1 attachment) (kc, ) (Entered:
09/22/2011)

09/23/2011

N
)

(Court only) Minute Entry for proceedings held before Honorable
Edwin M. Kosik:Sentencing held on 9/23/2011 for Michael T.
Conahan - see Judgment for details. (Court Reporter Kristin Yeager.)
Total Time in Court [:30] (th, ) (Entered: 09/23/2011)

09/23/2011

N
N

JUDGMENT as to Michael T. Conahan - 210 mos. imprisonment; 3
yrs. supervised release; $100 special assessment; $20,000 fine &
$874,167.37 restitution. Signed by Honorable Edwin M. Kosik on
9/23/11. (th, ) (Entered: 09/23/2011)

09/29/2011

293

NOTICE OF FILING OF OFFICIAL TRANSCRIPT of Sentencing as
to Michael T. Conahan held on 9/23/2011 before Judge Kosik. Court
Reporter/Transcriber Kristin Yeager, Telephone number
570.344.1323. Transcript may be viewed at the court public terminal
or purchased through the Court Reporter/Transcriber before the
deadline for Release of Transcript Restriction. After that date it may
be obtained through PACER. Redaction Request due 10/20/2011.
Redacted Transcript Deadline set for 10/31/2011. Release of
Transcript Restriction set for 12/28/2011. (cr, ) (Entered: 09/29/2011)
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA

COURT OF JUDICIAL DISCIPLINE

In re:

Michael T. Conahan;

Former Judge;

Court of Common Pieas; :

Luzerne County : 81D 2011

PROOF OF SERVICE

In compliance with Rule 122(D) of the Court of Judicial Discipline Rules
of Procedure, on December 21, 2011, a copy of this BOARD COMPLAINT was
sent by Certified Mail to counsel for the Respondent, who agreed to accept

service of this Board Complaint on behalf of his client:

Philip Gelso, Esquire
Briechle & Gelso, LLC
63 Pierce Street
Kingston, PA 18704

Certified Mail No. 7161 7145 5370 3333 7495
Return Receipt Requested

Respectfully submitted,

Judicial Conduct Board

601 Commonwealth Avenue
P.O. Box 62525

Harrisburg, PA 17106

(717) 234-7911



